# Neonatal Porcine Diarrhoea

Aspects on Aetiology and Pathology

Jenny Larsson Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Clinical Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2016 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2016:13

Cover photo: Tim Meier

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8528-5 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8529-2 © 2016 Jenny Larsson, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2016

### Neonatal Porcine Diarrhoea. Aspects on aetiology and pathology.

#### Abstract

Diarrhoea in newborn piglets is an old but still relevant problem in pig production globally. During the last decades, reports from a number of countries describe problems with neonatal porcine diarrhoea (NPD) despite the use of previously effective preventive measures. The aim of this thesis was to investigate and characterise the problem with NPD in Swedish piglet-producing herds. The magnitude of the problem was estimated by a questionnaire study distributed to 170 randomly selected herds. A response rate of 58% was achieved. The total herd-level prevalence of NPD, including herds with sporadic cases, was 79.6%, indicating that NPD is a substantial problem. Ten herds affected by NPD were selected for in-depth studies on the potential causes of the diarrhoea. From each herd, five diarrhoeic and two healthy control piglets were selected. The piglets were blood-sampled for analysis of serum y-globulin, and thereafter euthanized and necropsied. The intestines were sampled for histopathology, virology, and bacteriology. There was no difference in serum y-globulin concentration between diarrhoeic and non-diarrhoeic piglets and pathological lesions in the intestines were generally mild. Porcine enterotoxigenic Escherichia (E.) coli was only found in two piglets. Further, extended virulence gene profiling did not suggest involvement of other diarrhoeagenic pathotypes of E. coli. Clostridium (C.) perfringens type C was not detected, and neither C. perfringens type A nor C. difficile could be related to the diarrhoea. Furthermore, no protozoa such as Cystoisospora suis were observed in the intestinal mucosa. By viral metagenomics analyses of intestinal samples, the only previously well-established porcine enteropathogen found was rotavirus that was present in two herds. Otherwise, the data did not suggest involvement of previously known viruses. The only consistent finding associated with diarrhoea was small intestinal colonisation by Enterococcus (E.) hirae. Enteroadherent E. hirae was detected in 60% of the diarrhoeic piglets from six of the herds and was associated with small intestinal mucosal lesions in more than 50% of the cases (10/18). Thus, our results show that diarrhoea in newborn piglets may have other causes than the wellestablished pathogens previously associated with NPD and a potential involvement of E. hirae is suggested.

*Keywords: Enterococcus hirae, Escherichia coli,* ETEC, *Clostridium perfringens, Clostridium difficile,* rotavirus, viral metagenomics, neonate, pig, swine, NNPD.

*Author's address:* Jenny Larsson, SLU, Department of Clinical Sciences, P.O. Box 7054, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Jenny.Larsson@ slu.se

# Dedication

To my friends and family

# Contents

List	of Publications	7
Abb	reviations	9
1	Introduction	11
1.1	Implications of neonatal porcine diarrhoea in pig production	11
1.2	Aspects of neonatal physiology in regard to intestinal health	12
1.3	Basic pathophysiology of diarrhoea	14
1.4	Causes of diarrhoea in neonatal piglets	15
	1.4.1 Agents with well-established clinical importance	15
	1.4.2 Clostridium perfringens type A and Clostridium difficile	22
	1.4.3 Additional agents associated with neonatal porcine diarrhoea	24
	1.4.4 Non-infectious causes of neonatal porcine diarrhoea	28
1.5	Aspects on the diagnosis of enteral disease in neonatal piglets	29
1.6	New neonatal porcine diarrhoea	30
2	Hypothesis and aims	33
3	Comments on materials and methods	35
3.1	Occurrence and characteristics of neonatal porcine diarrhoea in Swee	dish
	piglet-producing herds (I)	35
3.2	Pathological and bacteriological characterisation of neonatal porcine	
	diarrhoea of uncertain aetiology (II)	37
	3.2.1 Selection of herds and animals	37
	3.2.2 Analysis of the piglets' passive immune status	41
	3.2.3 Pathology	42
~ ~	3.2.4 Bacteriology	44
3.3	The intestinal eukaryotic virome in healthy and diarrhoeic piglets (III)	46
3.4	Neonatal piglet diarrhoea associated with enteroadherent Enterococc hirae (IV)	us 49
4	Results and discussion	53
4.1	Occurrence and characteristics of neonatal porcine diarrhoea in Swee	
-	piglet-producing herds	53
4.2	Pathological and microbiological investigations	54
	4.2.1 Enteroadherent Enterococcus hirae	61
	4.2.2 Other causes?	63

5	Concluding remarks and future perspectives	65
6	Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	67
References		69
Ackı	nowledgements	93

# List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Larsson, J., Fall, N., Lindberg, M. & Jacobson, M. (2016). Farm characteristics and management routines related to neonatal porcine diarrhoea: a survey among Swedish piglet producers. *In manuscript*.
- II Larsson, J., Aspán, A., Lindberg, R., Grandon, R., Båverud, V., Fall, N. & Jacobson, M. (2015). Pathological and bacteriological characterization of neonatal porcine diarrhoea of uncertain aetiology. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 64(8), 916-926.
- III Karlsson, O.\*, Larsson, J.\*, Hayer, J., Berg, M. & Jacobson, M. (2016). The intestinal eukaryotic virome in healthy and diarrhoeic neonatal piglets. Manuscript submitted to *PLoS One*.
- IV Larsson, J., Linberg, R., Aspán, A., Grandon, R., Westergren, E. & Jacobson, M. (2014). Neonatal piglet diarrhoea associated with enteroadherent Enterococcus hirae. *Journal of Comparative Pathology* 151(2-3), 137-147.

Papers II and IV are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

7

<sup>\*</sup>These authors contributed equally to this work

# Abbreviations

AE	Attaching-effacing
ADG	Average daily gain
AIDA	Adhesin involved in diffuse adherence
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CDAD	Clostridium difficile associated diarrhoea
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
СрА	Clostridium perfringens type A
CpC	Clostridium perfringens type C
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EAggEC	Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli
EAST1	Enteroaggregative heat-stable toxin 1
EPEC	Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli
ETEC	Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization
GALT	Gut associated lymphoid tissue
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
H&E	Haematoxylin and eosin
HDCD	Hysterectomy derived colostrum deprived
ICTV	International committee on taxonomy of viruses
Ig	Immunoglobulin
LEE	Locus of enterocyte effacement
LT	Heat-labile enterotoxin
MALDI-	Matrix assisted laser desorption ionization - time of flight mass
TOF MS	spectrometry
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
NCBI	National centre for biotechnology information
NGI	National Genomics Infrastructure
NNPD	New neonatal porcine diarrhoea
NPD	Neonatal porcine diarrhoea

NVI	National Veterinary Institute
Paa	Porcine attaching and effacing associated protein
PAV	Porcine adenovirus
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEC	Porcine enteric calicivirus
PEDV	Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus
PPDS	Postpartum dysgalactia syndrome
PRCV	Porcine respiratory coronavirus
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
SIP	Sows in production
SISPA	Sequence independent single primer amplification
SLU	Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet (Swedish university of agricultural
CDE	sciences)
SPE	Serum protein electrophoresis
ST	Heat-stable enterotoxin
SvDHV	Svenska djurhälsovården (Swedish animal health service)
TcdA	Clostridium difficile toxin A
TcdB	Clostridium difficile toxin B
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TGEV	Transmissible gastroenteritis virus
V/C	Villus/crypt

# 1 Introduction

This thesis concerns an old, but yet still common and relevant problem in pig production, namely diarrhoea in neonatal pigs. In the newborn piglet, diarrhoea is generally considered to be of infectious nature but the outcome also depends on factors related to the host and its environment (Martineau, 1995). Thus, to provide a background for the work presented in this thesis, the major enteropathogens associated with neonatal porcine diarrhoea (NPD) will be described together with some other aspects of importance for enteric disease in neonatal piglets.

The term 'neonatal' is sometime used to cover the entire suckling period but in this thesis, neonatal diarrhoea refers only to diarrhoea occurring during the first week of life.

## 1.1 Implications of neonatal porcine diarrhoea in pig production

Since the emergence of a more modern-like pig production during the late 1950s and 1960s, diarrhoea has been one of the most frequently encountered clinical signs of disease in neonatal piglets (Alexander, 1994). Enteric diseases in newborn piglets are often enzootic but may also occur as defined outbreaks with high morbidity and mortality (Wittum *et al.*, 1995; Svensmark *et al.*, 1988; Morin *et al.*, 1983; Svendsen *et al.*, 1975). As an example of the latter, *Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus* (PEDV) has caused dramatic outbreaks in America and Asia during recent years with a mortality rate of 80-100% in suckling piglets (Authie *et al.*, 2014). The economic impact of such high death rates is of course huge. However, the economic consequences of enzootic NPD can also be substantial. In studies conducted in Sweden and Denmark, diarrhoea is estimated to account for 5-24% of the overall pre-weaning mortality (Westin *et al.*, 2015; Pedersen, 2010; Svendsen *et al.*, 1975) and to reduce average daily gain (ADG) by 8-14 g per day (Kongsted *et al.*, 2014a;

Johansen *et al.*, 2004).<sup>1</sup> Based on these effects, the cost of NPD was recently estimated to  $134 \notin$  per sow and year (Sjölund, 2014).

Apart from the economic consequences, NPD has other important implications. The development and spread of antibiotic resistance is one of the greatest threats to both animal and human health (Wise *et al.*, 1998). A minimal and prudent use of antimicrobials is therefore of utmost importance. In a recent study of antimicrobial usage in Swedish farrow-to-finish herds, the highest incidence of antimicrobial treatment was shown to occur in suckling piglets (Sjölund *et al.*, 2015). Targeting improvement of health in this age group may therefore be the most efficient way to further decrease the use of antimicrobials in Swedish pig production. Furthermore, animal welfare is one of the most intensively debated questions regarding the pig industry and disease is an issue that should be addressed also from an animal welfare perspective (Mellor & Stafford, 2004).

# 1.2 Aspects of neonatal physiology in regard to intestinal health

After birth, the intestine undergoes a number of changes to fulfil the tasks of the postnatal life. The functional development of the porcine intestine is reflected by significant morphological changes. Already after 24 h the small intestine increases in weight by approximately 60-70%, and the large intestine, by 30-40% (Xu *et al.*, 1992; Widdowson, 1976). This dramatic increase is mainly confined to the mucosa, due to the accumulation of colostral proteins within the epithelium, and a high level of cell proliferation (Xu *et al.*, 1992; Widdowson, 1976). The small intestinal absorptive surface area will thus expand with approximately 50% during the first day of life, and by 100% during the following 10 days (Xu *et al.*, 1992; Smith & Jarvis, 1978). These early structural and functional changes of the intestine are however dependent on an early intake of colostrum as a source of both nutrients and growth-promoting peptides (Xu *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 1998; Widdowson, 1976). Furthermore, colostrum has the important function of providing the piglet with a maternally derived, passive immunity.

The newborn piglet is immunologically immature, depending both on an underdevelopment per se but also on the lack of antigen exposure which normally occurs after birth (Rooke & Bland, 2002; Curtis & Bourne, 1971). Thus, even though both innate immune cells and gastrointestinal associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) are present at birth, the intestinal immunity is not considered functionally developed until 4-7 weeks of age (Gaskins, 1995;

<sup>1.</sup> In 2014, the average pre-weaning mortality in Sweden was 17.8% (Farm and Animal Health, 2014).

<sup>12</sup> 

Rothkötter & Pabst, 1989; Pabst *et al.*, 1988; Chu *et al.*, 1979). The porcine epitheliochorial placenta does not allow passage of maternal antibodies and the piglet is hence born without passive immune protection (Curtis & Bourne, 1971; Kim *et al.*, 1966). The passive immunity is instead dependent on colostral transfer and one of the key tasks of the neonatal pig intestine is hence uptake of colostrum. Sow colostrum contains high concentrations of mainly IgG but also IgA, IgM, immune cells, and various antimicrobial substances such as lactoferrin (Hurley, 2015; Wagstrom *et al.*, 2000). To facilitate the uptake of maternal immunoglobulins (antibodies), the small intestinal epithelial cells of the neonate is capable of bulk transport of macromolecules from the intestinal lumen and across the basolateral cell membrane (Clarke, 1971; Payne & Marsh, 1962). This ability is however transient, and by 24 h after birth the transfer of immunoglobulins to the circulation ceases, a process referred to as 'gut closure' (Rooke & Bland, 2002; Speer *et al.*, 1959). Immediate intake of colostrum is hence crucial for the newborn piglet's immune status.

The delivery of intact immunoglobulins to the small intestine is facilitated by a number of mechanisms. The secretion of gastric acid is lower in the newborn piglet compared to mature animals (Smith & Jones, 1963) and in combination with the buffering effect of colostrum the immunoglobulins are thus protected from denaturation (Wagstrom *et al.*, 2000). In addition, the dominant gastric protease after birth, chymosin, has a lower proteolytic ability as compared to pepsin (Moughan *et al.*, 1992). Colostrum also contains trypsin-inhibitors (Jensen, 1978; Laskowski *et al.*, 1957) that significantly increases the IgG-uptake (Weström *et al.*, 1985; Carlsson *et al.*, 1980). Altogether, these factors protect the immunoglobulins in colostrum from digestive degradation. However, they also promote survival of potentially harmful microbes and may prevent degradation of noxious substances (e.g. clostridial toxins).

Another key event in the functional development of the intestine is the acquisition of a commensal intestinal microbiota. Initial colonisation of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) is generally believed to start during and shortly after birth by microbes in the immediate environment (Maxwell, 1995; Moughan *et al.*, 1992). Studies on the early colonisation of piglets show that the first colonizers are facultative anaerobic bacteria including *Escherichia coli, Lactobacillus* spp., *Streptococcus* spp., and *Enterococcus* spp. but also anaerobic bacteria such as *Clostridium perfringens* (Petri *et al.*, 2010; Konstantinov *et al.*, 2006; Inoue *et al.*, 2005; Naito *et al.*, 1995; Swords *et al.*, 1993; Smith & Jones, 1963). Similar to infants, the major source of the microbiota is probably maternal faeces (Bäckhed *et al.*, 2015; Brown *et al.*, 2006). The composition of the intestinal microflora has been reported to show

a large inter-individual variability during the first 1-2 weeks of the piglet's life, followed by a cohabitation effect around 3-4 weeks when the microflora among piglets become more similar (Thompson *et al.*, 2008; Melin *et al.*, 1997; Katouli, 1995). However, compared to infants, information on the dynamics of the early post-natal microbiota is limited.

In summary, the barrier functions of the GIT in the neonatal piglet is not as developed as in mature animals due to the higher pH in the stomach, the lower proteolytic capacity, the lack of colonisation resistance by an established intestinal microbiota (Lawley & Walker, 2013; Van der Waaij *et al.*, 1971), and the dependence on passive immune protection due to immunological immaturity. Furthermore, the regeneration time of the small intestinal epithelium in day-old piglets is reported to be 7-10 days, as compared to 2-4 days in 3-week-old pigs (Moon, 1971). This difference is probably also contributing to the susceptibility of infectious enteritis in newborn piglets, as a rapid turnover of enterocytes is considered a defence mechanism by the expulsion of infected cells (Kim *et al.*, 2010; Moon *et al.*, 1973).

Another concern of the newborn piglet is the sensitivity to hypothermia due to the poor hair coverage, the large body surface-to-weight ratio, the lack of brown adipose tissue, and the paucity of body energy reserves at birth (Herpin *et al.*, 1994; Trayhurn *et al.*, 1989; Le Dividich, 1983). Hypothermia may not only impede colostrum intake (Blecha & Kelley, 1981; Le Dividich & Noblet, 1981) but has furthermore been shown to reduce the intestinal peristalsis and increase the severity of diarrhoea following enteric infections (Steel & Torres-Medina, 1984; Sarmiento, 1983; Kelley *et al.*, 1982).

Taken together, all of these factors contribute to the vulnerability of the neonatal piglet to enteric infections.

# 1.3 Basic pathophysiology of diarrhoea

The term diarrhoea is typically used to describe loose, watery stools that occur more frequently than usual. More specifically, diarrhoea can be described as faeces with an excess of water relative to faecal dry matter (Brown, 2007a) and a water content exceeding  $\sim$ 80% has been used to define diarrhoeic stool in pigs post weaning (Pedersen *et al.*, 2011; Kenworthy, 1970).

Mechanisms of diarrhoea are usually categorised as malabsorption, increased intestinal secretion, increased intestinal permeability, and motility disorders (Brown, 2007a; Moon, 1978). These mechanisms are however not mutually exclusive and thus, many diarrhoeic conditions are a result of the simultaneous action of a number of mechanisms.

In general, enteropathogens cause diarrhoea either directly by affecting ion transports and barrier functions, or indirectly through inflammation or loss of absorptive surface (Hodges & Gill, 2010). For example, enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC) causes profuse secretory diarrhoea by the production of enterotoxins that by their effects on ion transports induce a hyper-secretory state in the intestine (Nataro & Kaper, 1998). *Clostridium (C.) perfringens* type C on the other hand induces severe damage to the intestinal mucosa via its potent betatoxin, leading to obvious impairment of absorption as well as effusion of interstitial fluid and blood to the lumen (Sayeed *et al.*, 2008; Moon & Bergeland, 1965). Furthermore, other porcine enteropathogens, e.g. rotavirus and the coccidian *Cystoisospora suis*, multiply in the intestinal epithelium leading to an excessive loss of enterocytes and thereby diminished digestive and absorptive capacity (Graham *et al.*, 1984; Eustis & Nelson, 1981). As a consequence, the accumulation of undigested material will drive water into in the lumen, resulting in osmotic diarrhoea.

The clinical signs and outcome of enteric disease in the newborn piglet will vary depending on the infectious agent involved, as well as the piglet's susceptibility to infection (Thomson, 2012). However, the basic consequences of profuse, watery diarrhoea will, irrespective of its cause, be a rapid loss of water, electrolytes, and nutrients. Considering the limited body reserves of the newborn piglet, this will soon lead to a severe condition and the piglet may die within hours. Hence, acute diarrhoea in the neonatal pig should always receive immediate attention.

## 1.4 Causes of diarrhoea in neonatal piglets

Diarrhoea in newborn piglets are usually related to the presence of a single pathogen and mixed infections are considered less common (Katsuda *et al.*, 2006; Yaeger *et al.*, 2002; Johnson *et al.*, 1992; Morin *et al.*, 1983). The following section will address infectious agents regarded as important causes of NPD (Thomson, 2012), as well as some less common agents, and some of uncertain clinical importance.

#### 1.4.1 Agents with well-established clinical importance

An overview of well-established causes of diarrhoea in suckling pigs, including typical age when pigs are affected and main pathological lesions, are given in Table 1.

#### Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli

*Escherichia (E.) coli* is a gram-negative, facultative anaerobic bacterium that is part of the commensal intestinal microbiota in warm blooded animals (Gordon & Cowling, 2003). However, some *E. coli* strains have developed specific abilities which turn them into primary pathogens, responsible for a range of different diseases in both man and animals (Kaper *et al.*, 2004).

The principle pathotype<sup>2</sup> of *E. coli* responsible for intestinal disease in pigs is enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC) (Alexander, 1994). ETEC is defined by its capability to produce enterotoxins, exerting their effects locally in the intestine (Nataro & Kaper, 1998). Porcine ETEC is equipped with genes encoding one or both of the two enterotoxin classes heat-labile (LT) and heat-stable (ST) enterotoxin (Smith & Gyles, 1970). The ST toxins can subsequently be divided into two different types; STa and STb (Burgess et al., 1978). LT and STa stimulates intestinal secretion by causing increased intracellular levels of cAMP and cGMP, respectively, leading to an increased Cl<sup>-</sup> secretion from secretory crypt cells and decreased absorption of Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> by absorptive enterocytes on the villi tips (Gyles, 1994). Whereas the actions of LT and STa have been studied in detail (for an excellent review see Nataro & Kaper, 1998), much less is known about STb. One reason for this might be that STb primarily is associated with porcine ETEC (Nataro & Kaper, 1998; Gyles, 1994). However, the main effect of STb seems to be an increased secretion of HCO<sub>3</sub> (Weikel et al., 1986). In addition, many porcine ETEC isolates also carry the gene for enteroaggregative heat stable enterotoxin (EAST1), an enterotoxin originally detected in enteroaggregative E. coli (EAggEC) in diarrhoeic humans (Choi et al., 2001; Savarino et al., 1991). The mechanism of action for EAST1 is proposed to be similar to that of STa (Savarino et al., 1993). However, the role of EAST1 in the development of diarrhoea is questionable, since EAST1-positive E. coli frequently are isolated also from healthy piglets (Vu-Khac et al., 2007; Ngeleka et al., 2003). Moreover, experimental infections with E. coli expressing EAST1 as the only enterotoxin fail to induce diarrhoea in gnotobiotic pigs (Ruan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2006; Ngeleka et al., 2003).

To cause diarrhoea, ETEC must also be able to persist and multiply in the small intestine (Alexander, 1994). This ability is acquired by the expression of adhesion factors that bind to specific mucosal receptors. Porcine ETEC associated with NPD usually possess one or a combination of the fimbrial adhesins F4, F5, F6 and F41 (Nagy & Fekete, 1999; Söderlind, 1988).

<sup>2.</sup> Pathotype refers to a group of strains of the same species that cause a specific disease using a common set of virulence factors (Kaper *et al.*, 2004)

<sup>16</sup> 

The secretory diarrhoea induced by ETEC is unspecific and pathological lesions are mild (Table 1). Clinical signs of ETEC infection can be observed as early as a couple of hours after birth and may vary from mild diarrhoea in an otherwise unaffected animal, to profuse, watery diarrhoea that can result in severe dehydration and death within hours (Alexander, 1981).

The ultimate source of ETEC is believed to be sow faeces, as healthy animals may carry ETEC but at lower numbers (Schierack *et al.*, 2006; Alexander, 1981; Söderlind, 1979). Susceptible infected piglets will subsequently act as an enrichment vessel and excrete large amounts of bacteria, leading to a build-up of pathogenic strains in the environment (Fairbrother, 2012; Alexander, 1994). The contagious nature of ETEC is reflected by the fact that the same strain usually is found in several diarrhoeic piglets and often in consecutive farrowing batches (Fairbrother, 2012).

Diagnosis of colibacillosis in pigs has traditionally been based on serotyping, as certain serogroups of *E. coli* are associated with a particular disease in a certain area (Alexander, 1994; Söderlind, 1971; Sojka *et al.*, 1960). However, in routine diagnostic settings, typing of *E. coli* is now often performed by PCR-based screening of virulence genes (Nagy & Fekete, 2005).

ETEC is considered one of the most important causes of NPD globally, but can be controlled by vaccination of gilts and sows to induce a protective passive immunity in piglets via colostrum (Alexander, 1994; Moon & Bunn, 1993). Furthermore, the susceptibility to ETEC depends on the expression of specific mucosal receptors that varies both with age and genetics (Nagy & Fekete, 2005; Dean *et al.*, 1989; Runnels *et al.*, 1980). For example, some pigs are naturally resistant to colonization by F4-positive *E. coli* (Schroyen et al., 2012) and the genetics behind this trait are used for selective breeding for F4-resistance in Denmark (Pig Research Center, 2010).

#### Clostridium perfringens type C

*Clostridium (C.) perfringens* is an anaerobic but oxygen tolerant, grampositive, spore-forming rod that is divided into five groups (toxinotypes A-E) based on the production of the major toxin types alpha, beta, epsilon, and iota (Songer, 2012). *C. perfringens* type C (CpC) produces alpha- and beta-toxin and can cause severe, necrohaemorrhagic enteritis in the newborn piglet (see Table 1). The extensive damage to the intestinal mucosa seen in CpC infections is largely attributed to the actions of the pore-forming, necrotizing beta-toxin (Sayeed *et al.*, 2008; Steinthorsdottir *et al.*, 2000). CpC is also described to adhere to the villous epithelium in early stages of disease (Walker *et al.*, 1980; Arbuckle, 1972) and subsequent, massive attachment to the damaged, necrotic

mucosa is a general histological finding (Niilo, 1988; Morin *et al.*, 1981). The mechanism of this adherence is however not known (Petit *et al.*, 1999).

The susceptibility of newborn animals to CpC-enteritis is considered to depend on the lack of an established intestinal flora combined with slower degradation of the beta-toxin, due to low secretion of trypsin and presence of trypsin-inhibitors in colostrum (Songer, 1996; Lawrence & Cooke, 1980; Jensen, 1978; Laskowski *et al.*, 1957).

In cases with low herd-immunity (such as nonvaccinated populations), CpC can cause dramatic outbreaks that may reach a litter-prevalence of 100% and very high mortality rates in newborn piglets (Morin *et al.*, 1981; Hogh, 1966; Moon & Bergeland, 1965). In this acute form, infected piglets develop haemorrhagic diarrhoea, cease nursing, and become moribund within 12-36 h (Hogh, 1966; Field & Gibson, 1955). However, as herd immunity rises, the disease will become milder and the clinical signs may be less typical (Songer, 2012).

Diagnosis of CpC infection is based on clinical presentation, typical pathological lesions, and demonstration of CpC in faeces or intestinal contents (Songer & Uzal, 2005). The latter is usually performed by bacteriological culture and toxinotyping of *C. perfringens* isolates by PCR (Songer & Uzal, 2005; Engström *et al.*, 2003).

CpC causes disease in piglets in many areas of the world but in a global perspective, it is considered less important than ETEC (Songer, 2012). In Sweden, CpC-enteritis is a notifiable disease in pigs. However, reported index cases during the last ten years have been few (n=3) and confined to the southwestern parts of the country (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2005-2014). NPD caused by CpC can be effectively prevented by administration of vaccines containing beta-toxoid to gilts and sows prior to farrowing (Niilo, 1988).

Table 1. Overview of import	ant infectious causes of neonat	Table 1. Overview of important infectious causes of neonatal porcine diarrhoea, typical age when pigs are affected, and main pathological lesions	ige when pigs are affected, and	l main pathological lesions
Cause	Age	Macroscopic lesions	Microscopic lesions	References
ETEC <sup>1</sup>	12 h-4 days, and/ or 2-3 weeks after weaning	Fluid, yellowish intestinal contents. Small intestinal dilation with some congestion of the intestinal wall	None or mild. Attachment of gram-negative rods to the small intestinal epithelium	Fairbrother (2012); Dean <i>et al.</i> (1989); Moon <i>et al.</i> (1970); Kohler & Bohl (1966)
Clostridium perfringens type C	12 h-7 days, may occur up to 2-3 weeks of age	Haemorrhagic intestinal contents. Mucosal necrosis in the small intestine. Intestinal and mesenteric hyperaemia	Pathognomonic segmental necrohaemorrhagic entertitis, gram-positive rods associated with lesions	Jäggi <i>et al.</i> (2009); Hogh (1966); Moon & Bergeland (1965); Field & Gibson (1955)
TGEV <sup>2</sup> and PEDV <sup>3</sup>	All ages	Fluid, yellowish intestinal contents, thin walled, transparent intestines	Severe villus atrophy, primarily in the distal small intestine	Stevenson <i>et al.</i> (2013); Pospischil <i>et al.</i> (1981); Debouck & Pensaert (1980)
Rotavirus	1 day-7 weeks, most frequent at 2-3 weeks of age	Fluid to creamy intestinal contents, pale intestines	Mild to severe villus atrophy, primarily in the distal small intestine	Pospischil <i>et al.</i> (1981); Tzipori & Williams (1978)
Cystoisospora suis	5-21 days	Fluid to creamy intestinal contents, fibrinous exudates and/or necrosis in the distal small intestine	Mild to severe villus atrophy, fibrinonecrotic enteritis. Intracellular stages of coccidia in the small intestinal epithelium	Eustis & Nelson (1981); Robinson & Turgeon (1980); Stuart <i>et al.</i> (1980)
1. ETEC, enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli	srichia coli			

coli	
ichia.	
Escherichia coli	
nterotoxigenic	
intero	
C, e	

TGEV, Transmissible gastroenteritis virus
PEDV, Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus

Transmissible gastroenteritis virus and Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus

*Transmissible gastroenteritis virus* (TGEV) and *Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus* (PEDV) are single stranded, positive sense RNA viruses belonging to the family *Coronaviridae* (ICTV, 2014). Both viruses are spread by the faecal-oral route and replicate in absorptive enterocytes in the small intestine, resulting in lysis of infected cells (Kim & Chae, 2000; Pospischil *et al.*, 1981; Pensaert *et al.*, 1970). The effect is an acute, malabsorptive diarrhoea associated with villus atrophy primarily in the distal small intestine (Table 1). Additional mechanisms described for TGEV are altered intestinal sodium transport and loss of extravascular protein (Butler *et al.*, 1974). Even if the viruses share a number of properties they are antigenically distinct, and pig TGEV antisera does not neutralize PEDV or vice versa (Lin *et al.*, 2015).

All age groups are susceptible to TGEV and PEDV infection, but the highest mortality rates (up to 100%) are seen in piglets less than two weeks of age (Stevenson *et al.*, 2013; Saif, 2012; Moon *et al.*, 1973; Haelterman & Hutchings, 1956). Typical clinical signs include inappetence, vomiting, and profuse, watery diarrhoea. A clinical history of severe clinical signs in pigs of all ages is indicative for the diagnosis of TGEV/PEDV but in enzootic situations, clinical signs may be less dramatic (Pritchard, 1987; Morin *et al.*, 1983). Laboratory diagnosis can be set either by direct detection of viral antigen or nucleic acid, or indirectly by serology (Saif, 2012; Song & Park, 2012).

TGEV is a cause of disease in most pig-producing areas of the world (Saif, 2012). However, the clinical impact of TGEV in Europe diminished during the 1980s and 1990s due to the extensive spread of a closely related porcine respiratory coronavirus (PRCV; a deletion mutant of TEGV) (Saif, 2012; Schwegmann-Wessels & Herrler, 2006; Pensaert *et al.*, 1986). The PRCV infection is usually subclinical but induces a cross-reactive immunity towards TGEV.

PEDV first appeared in the UK and Belgium during the 1970s and subsequently spread to a number of European countries (Jung & Saif, 2015; Chasey & Cartwright, 1978; Pensaert & De Bouck, 1978; Wood, 1977). After the 1980s, problems with PEDV in Europe declined and disease outbreaks have since only been occasional (Carvajal *et al.*, 2015; Martelli *et al.*, 2008). In 2013, PEDV was introduced for the first time on the American continent and resulted in severe outbreaks of disease in the naïve population (Carvajal *et al.*, 2015; Stevenson *et al.*, 2013). Recently, PEDV isolates similar to the variants described in America have also been detected in Europe (Boniotti *et al.*, 2016; Dastjerdi *et al.*, 2015; Grasland *et al.*, 2015; Hanke *et al.*, 2015; Stadler *et al.*,

2015). However, neither PEDV nor TGEV have ever been reported in Sweden (Wallgren, 2014).

#### Rotavirus

Rotaviruses are segmented double stranded RNA viruses that frequently cause diarrhoea in young animals and humans (Ramig, 2004). Porcine rotaviruses are divided in four serogroups (A-C, E) among which serogroup A accounts for the vast majority of rotavirus-associated diarrhoeas (Will *et al.*, 1994; Morilla *et al.*, 1991; Janke *et al.*, 1990). Rotavirus primarily targets mature enterocytes in the small intestine but has also been demonstrated in the epithelium of the large intestine (Gelberg, 1992; Pospischil *et al.*, 1981). The virus replicates in the cytoplasm resulting in lysis of enterocytes, subsequent villous atrophy (Table 1), and malabsorptive diarrhoea (Svensmark *et al.*, 1989a; Graham *et al.*, 1984). Additional mechanisms of rotavirus-induced diarrhoea have been suggested, including enterotoxin function of the NSP4-protein (Lundgren & Svensson, 2001; Ball *et al.*, 1996).

Group A rotavirus is primarily associated with mild diarrhoea at 2-3 weeks of age, a diarrhoea often referred to as 'white scours' (Svensmark *et al.*, 1989b; Bohl *et al.*, 1978). As the virus is widespread, piglets are usually protected against disease during the first weeks of life via maternal immunity (Ward *et al.*, 1996; Fu *et al.*, 1990; Shaw *et al.*, 1989). Many piglets may hence be subclinically infected and disease occurs only if colostrum intake is insufficient or if the infectious dose exceeds the protective immunity (Ward *et al.*, 1996; Debouck & Pensaert, 1983; Tzipori & Williams, 1978). Outbreaks of group C rotavirus have previously only been described occasionally (Chasey *et al.*, 1986) but recent studies indicate that rotavirus group C has become more common in piglets less than a week of age (Lorenzetti *et al.*, 2014; Marthaler *et al.*, 2013). Diagnosis of rotavirus infection is usually set by detection of viral antigens or nucleic acid in faeces, intestinal contents, or in tissue (Chang, 2012).

Porcine rotaviruses are widespread among pigs throughout the world including Sweden (Nilsson *et al.*, 1984), and in some countries up to 100% of the adult pig population is seropositive (Chang, 2012).

#### Cystoisospora suis

*Cystoisospora suis* is an intracellular protozoan parasite with a direct life cycle that can be divided into three stages: sporulation of oocysts in faeces, excystation and release of infectious sporozoites, and the endogenous stage when the parasites multiply within the small intestinal epithelium (Lindsay *et al.*, 1997; Lindsay *et al.*, 1980). The endogenous stage leads to necrosis of

enterocytes, followed by villus atrophy and malabsorptive diarrhoea (Lindsay, 2012; Eustis & Nelson, 1981). Pathological lesions (Table 1) and clinical signs develop around 3-5 days post infection and excretion of oocysts in faeces can be seen after five days (Stuart *et al.*, 1982; Lindsay *et al.*, 1980; Stuart *et al.*, 1980). Clinical signs are commonly seen in piglets between five and 21 days of age and include fluid to creamy diarrhoea, rough hair coat, and reduced weight gain (Lindsay, 2012; Roberts & Walker, 1982; Eustis & Nelson, 1981; Robinson & Turgeon, 1980). The severity of the disease depends on the infectious dose (Stuart *et al.*, 1982) as well as concurrent infections with other enteropathogens (Eustis & Nelson, 1981).

Diagnosis of *Cystoisospora suis* can be made by demonstration of oocysts in faeces, or the endogenous life stage in the intestinal mucosa by microscopy of tissue sections or mucosal smears (Lindsay, 2012). *Cystoispospora suis* is present in commercial pig herds worldwide including Sweden and is, similar to rotavirus, primarily associated with 'white scours' in 2-3-week-old piglets (Nilsson *et al.*, 1984; Stuart *et al.*, 1980).

#### 1.4.2 Clostridium perfringens type A and Clostridium difficile

During the last decades, there has been an increased focus on clostridia in association with NPD. Both *C. perfringens* type A and *C. difficile* have been pointed out as important causes of NPD (Songer, 2012) but the clinical importance of these agents has also been questioned as both the organisms and their toxins can be equally demonstrated in healthy newborn piglets (Farzan, 2013; Hopman *et al.*, 2011; Yaeger *et al.*, 2007).

#### Clostridium perfringens type A

*C. perfringens* type A (CpA) produces alpha-toxin as its sole major toxin and is considered a part of the normal intestinal microbiota in piglets (Petri et al., 2010; Smith & Jones, 1963). The pathogenesis of CpA enteritis is poorly understood but due to the negligible pathological lesions seen in the intestine, a secretory mechanism has been suggested (Songer & Uzal, 2005). In contrast to CpC infection, adhesion or destruction of the epithelium does not seem to be a feature of CpA enteritis (Johannsen *et al.*, 1993b). Moreover, the role of toxins produced by CpA is unclear. Inoculation of colostrum-deprived piglets (n=23) with alpha-toxin alone resulted in diarrhoea in only 11% of the cases and pathological changes in the intestines were minor (Johannsen *et al.*, 1993a; Johannsen *et al.*, 1993b). Further, a large proportion of CpA isolates from diarrhoeic piglets carry the beta2-toxin gene (Bueschel *et al.*, 2003; Garmory *et al.*, 2000; Klaasen *et al.*, 1999). However, more recent studies demonstrate that beta2-toxin-positive CpA is highly prevalent also in healthy animals (Farzan,



2013; Chan *et al.*, 2012; Jäggi *et al.*, 2009) and that the toxin itself can be detected at comparable levels in intestinal contents from healthy and diarrhoeic piglets (Farzan, 2013; Jonach, 2013). In humans, CpA is associated with food poisoning due to the production of an enterotoxin. This toxin has also has been suggested to be involved in CpA enteritis in pigs (Collins *et al.*, 1989; Estrada & Taylor, 1989) but presence of the enterotoxin gene in porcine CpA is uncommon (Czanderlova *et al.*, 2006; Garmory *et al.*, 2000; Klaasen *et al.*, 1999; van Damme-Jongsten *et al.*, 1990).

Experimental infection of colostrum-deprived-piglets with CpA isolated from clinical NPD-cases have shown inconsistent results, ranging from necrotic haemorrhagic enteritis to absence of diarrhoea and intestinal lesions (Johannsen *et al.*, 1993a; Olubunmi & Taylor, 1985; Nabuurs, 1983).

Clinical signs of naturally occuring CpA enteritis in newborn pigs is reported to include creamy, whitish diarrhoea that commence around one to two days after birth (Songer, 2012; Collins *et al.*, 1989). Pathological changes range from no apparent lesions to focal, superficial necrosis of villi tips. A common observation is large amounts of gram-positive rods, consistent with *C. perfringens*, in the intestinal lumen (Silva *et al.*, 2013; Collins *et al.*, 1989).

Since pathological lesions are mild and CpA isolates allegedly associated with disease currently cannot be differentiated from CpA in healthy piglets the diagnosis of CpA-enteritis is equivocal.

#### Clostridium difficile

*C. difficile* is an important cause of hospital- and antibiotic-associated diarrhoea and pseudomembranous colitis in humans (Mylonakis *et al.*, 2001), and aspects of the disease have been studied in hysterectomy-derived colostrum-deprived (HDCD) piglets (Steele *et al.*, 2014; Steele *et al.*, 2010).

The pathogenesis of *C. difficile*-associated diarrhoea (CDAD) is mainly mediated through the actions of *C. difficile* toxin A (TcdA) and toxin B (TcdB) (Steele *et al.*, 2014; Kuehne *et al.*, 2010). Both TcdA and TcdB disrupt the actin cytoskeleton in intoxicated cells, leading to impairment of important cellular functions and ultimately disorganisation and cell death (Janoir, 2015). However, the toxins may also add to the development of intestinal inflammation and effect the enteric nervous system (Keel & Songer, 2006). Further, some porcine strains carry the gene for binary toxin (Silva *et al.*, 2011) but the role of this toxin in the pathogenesis of CDAD is unclear (Janoir, 2015).

C. difficile-associated diarrhoea in newborn piglets seems unrelated to antibiotic treatment. Clinical signs include soft to semifluid faeces, loss of body condition, and sometimes dyspnoea (Songer *et al.*, 2000; Waters *et al.*,

1998). Affected piglets are usually 1-7 days old and present at necropsy with mesocolonic oedema and, occasionally, hydrothorax and ascites (Yaeger *et al.*, 2002; Songer *et al.*, 2000; Waters *et al.*, 1998). Intestinal lesions are generally mild and confined to the cecum and colon. Characteristic microscopic findings are 'volcano lesions' consisting of focal mucosal damage with effusion of fibrin and neutrophils to the lumen (Yaeger *et al.*, 2002; Songer *et al.*, 2000; Waters *et al.*, 1998).

The organism is prevalent also among healthy neonatal piglets (Hopman *et al.*, 2011; Weese *et al.*, 2010; Yaeger *et al.*, 2007) and the confirmation of CDAD is based on detection of TcdA and TcdB in faeces or colonic contents (Songer *et al.*, 2000). However, *C. difficile* toxins were recently shown to be more common in non-diarrhoeic neonatal piglets (23/29) compared to diarrhoeic piglets (42/100) (Yaeger *et al.*, 2007). The study by Yaeger *et al.* (2007) is however the only large-scale study comparing the prevalence of *C. difficile* toxins in healthy and diarrhoeic animals. Hence more studies are needed to assess the diagnostic value of TcdA/TcdB-detection in newborn piglets.

Prior to the current study, *C. difficile* had not been investigated with regard to NPD in Sweden.

#### 1.4.3 Additional agents associated with neonatal porcine diarrhoea

Several other agents have been associated with NPD. Some are regarded to be of lesser or unknown clinical importance, whereas others are restricted to certain geographical areas. Below follows a brief description of selected additional bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections that have been described in relation to diarrhoea in suckling pigs.

#### Variants of E. coli other than 'classical' porcine ETEC

Except 'classical' ETEC, some other variants of *E. coli* may also cause diarrhoea in newborn pigs but are considered much less common (Alexander, 1994). ETEC isolates of the STb or STb:EAST1 virotype<sup>3</sup> may produce a non-fimbrial adhesion factor called adhesin involved in diffuse adherence (AIDA-I). AIDA-I was originally described in *E. coli* isolates from diarrhoeic humans (Benz & Schmidt, 1989) and later found in porcine ETEC isolates associated with post-weaning diarrhoea (Niewerth *et al.*, 2001). Subsequently, this virotype was also isolated from cases of NPD and diarrhoea was reproduced experimentally in colostrum-deprived newborn piglets (Ravi *et al.*, 2007; Pritchard *et al.*, 2004; Ngeleka *et al.*, 2003). *E. coli* positive for STb:EAST1:AIDA-I has also been associated with NPD in Sweden (Eriksson,

<sup>3.</sup> Virotype refers to a set combination of virulence factors in a specific isolate

<sup>24</sup> 

2012). Since commercially available vaccines against ETEC only contain fimbrial antigens (and in some cases LT toxoid), STb:EAST1:AIDA-I positive *E. coli* has been suggested as a cause of NPD in herds that experience problems in spite of adequate vaccination routines (Eriksson, 2012).

Another pathotype of E. coli related to porcine diarrhoea is enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) (Higgins et al., 1997; Helie et al., 1991; Janke et al., 1989). EPEC is characterised by its ability to induce characteristic attaching and effacing (AE) lesions in the intestine (Nataro & Kaper, 1998), an ability regulated by a number of genes located in a pathogenicity island called locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) (McDaniel et al., 1995). Typical for AE lesions is extensive or multifocal attachment of bacteria to the intestinal mucosa, accompanied by erosions and detachment of enterocytes to the lumen (Helie et al., 1991; Janke et al., 1989). Distinctive features noted by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) are effacement of microvilli and protrusions of the cell membrane underlying the bacteria, a phenomenon called pedestal formation (Helie & Higgins, 1999; Tzipori et al., 1985; Moon et al., 1983). Gnotobiotic pigs have been used to study the pathogenesis of EPEC (Tzipori et al., 1985; Moon et al., 1983) but reports on naturally occurring AE lesions in newborn piglets are few (Higgins et al., 1997; Janke et al., 1989). In post-weaning pigs however, porcine EPEC of serotype O45 has been associated with occasional outbreaks of diarrhoea (Zhu et al., 1994; Helie et al., 1991). Although investigations of porcine EPEC O45 show that presence of LEE correlates with the ability to induce AE lesions (An *et al.*, 2000), genes within LEE, such as the gene for the adhesin intimin, are frequently detected also in healthy pigs (Vu-Khac et al., 2007; Malik et al., 2006; Krause et al., 2005; Ngeleka et al., 2003). Likewise, porcine attaching and effacingassociated protein (paa) is important for the formation of AE lesions (Batisson et al., 2003; An et al., 1999) but has also been demonstrated to be present in porcine ETEC (Leclerc et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007; Boerlin et al., 2005; An et al., 1999). Hence, the mere detection of these genes cannot be used to diagnose porcine EPEC.

Furthermore, due to the detection of *E. coli* isolates from diarrhoeic pigs with EAST1 as the only known virulence factor, it has been suggested that enteroaggregative *E. coli* could be involved in porcine diarrhoea (Choi *et al.*, 2001; Penteado *et al.*, 2001; Tzipori *et al.*, 1992). However, typical EAggEC similar to isolates associated with diarrhoea in humans have so far not been demonstrated in animals (Uber *et al.*, 2006; Kaper *et al.*, 2004).

#### Enterococcus spp.

Although many *Enterococcus (E.)* spp. are regarded as commensals of the intestinal tract, some species belonging to the *E. faecium*-species group have also been associated with diarrhoea in suckling animals (Nicklas *et al.*, 2010; Vela *et al.*, 2010; Collins *et al.*, 1988; Etheridge *et al.*, 1988; Tzipori *et al.*, 1984). In pigs, a few case reports of NPD describe dense, small intestinal colonization with enterococci identified as either *E. durans* or *E. villorum* (Vancanneyt *et al.*, 2001; Cheon & Chae, 1996; Drolet R., 1990; Johnson, 1984). The condition has also been reproduced by experimental infection of gnotobiotic piglets with *E. durans* but very little is known about the pathogenesis (Johnson, 1984; Tzipori *et al.*, 1984). Prior to the present study, enterococci had not been investigated in relation to NPD in Sweden.

## Salmonella

Diseases in swine caused by salmonella are mainly caused by *Salmonella (S.) enterica* serotype *cholerasuis* or *S. enterica* serotype *typhimurium* (Carlson, 2012). *S. cholerasuis* is primarily associated with septicaemia, whereas *S. typhimurium* causes enterocolitis. Disease is however rarely seen in suckling pigs. In Sweden, the prevalence of salmonella in the pig population is low, thanks to an extensive national control program (National Board of Health and Welfare, 2013).

## Chlamydia suis

Chlamydiae are gram-negative bacteria that only multiply within their host cells. In pigs, chlamydial infections may have various manifestations including enteritis (Schautteet & Vanrompay, 2011; Nietfeld et al., 1993). Most intestinal infections are believed to be subclinical (Nietfeld et al., 1997; Szeredi et al., 1996) but diarrhoea is reproducible by experimental infection of gnotobiotic pigs with *Chlamydia suis* (Guscetti et al., 2009). Intestinal chlamydia infections are common in Swedish growing pigs but do not correlate with the presence of diarrhoea (Englund et al., 2012).

#### Miscellaneous viral infections

*Aichivirus C* (previously known as porcine kobuvirus) belongs to the *Picornaviridae* family (ICTV, 2014) and has been found at a high prevalence in faecal samples from diarrhoeic piglets (Park et al., 2010; Khamrin et al., 2009). However, *Aichivirus* C is frequently detected also in healthy, young piglets and hence an association with diarrhoea is uncertain (Di Bartolo et al., 2015; Verma et al., 2013; An et al., 2011). No experimental infections have yet been published.

Porcine adenoviruses (PAV) includes three species (A-C) within the *Adenoviridae* family (ICTV, 2014). PAVs are mainly associated with intestinal disease in swine but are regarded to have low to moderate pathogenicity (Benfield, 2012). Outbreaks of NPD where PAV was identified as the only known enteropathogen have however been reported from the US (Abid *et al.*, 1984) and diarrhoea is reproducible in HDCD pigs (Ducatelle *et al.*, 1982; Coussement *et al.*, 1981). Typical for intestinal PAV infection is the presence of intranuclear inclusion bodies in enterocytes of the distal small intestine (Ducatelle *et al.*, 1982; Coussement *et al.*, 1982; Coussement *et al.*, 1982; Coussement *et al.*, 1981).

Astroviruses (family *Astroviridae*) have also been implicated as a cause of NPD (Wallgren, 2012). Mild diarrhoea can be induced experimentally in HDCD pigs (Indik *et al.*, 2006; Shimizu *et al.*, 1990) but in most natural outbreaks, other well-known enteropathogens have been detected concurrently (Mor *et al.*, 2012; Shirai, 1985; Bridger, 1980). Porcine astroviruses have also been found to be common in healthy pigs at slaughter (Luo *et al.*, 2011) and hence the clinical importance of astrovirus in porcine enteric disease remains to be determined.

Porcine enteric caliciviruses (PEC), including porcine norovirus and porcine sapovirus (family *Caliciviridae*) have also been discussed in relation to NPD (Knowles, 2012). Porcine enteric caliciviruses are widespread in the pig population globally and have mostly been investigated in healthy pigs (Knowles, 2012). However, one European prevalence study, including both diarrhoeic and healthy pigs from Denmark and Spain, found no association between the presence of sapovirus and diarrhoea (Reuter *et al.*, 2010). Experimental infections of gnotobiotic pigs with PEC (both noro- and sapovirus) result in mild diarrhoea and viral shedding in faeces (Wang *et al.*, 2005; Guo *et al.*, 2001; Flynn *et al.*, 1988) but little is known about the association of PEC with naturally occurring disease (Knowles, 2012).

### Parasitic infections other than coccidiosis

Cryptosporidia are obligate intracellular parasites that have been detected in pigs worldwide (Lindsay, 2012). The endogenous stages are extracytoplasmatic, and hence the parasites appear to be located on the luminal surface of the intestinal epithelium. In suckling pigs, Cryptospordium (C.) suis is the most frequently detected species but the association between faecal shedding of oocysts and diarrhoea is vague (Němejc et al., 2013; Hamnes et al., 2007; Vítovec et al., 2006). Experimental infection of 2-day-old conventional pigs resulted in mild diarrhoea in only a proportion of pigs (4/9) (Enemark et al., 2003). In Denmark and Norway, the prevalence of faecal shedding of cryptosporidial oocysts in suckling pigs is low (6% of 488 piglets

and 8% of 684 litters, respectively) (Hamnes *et al.*, 2007; Maddox-Hyttel *et al.*, 2006).

Finally, the nematode *Strongyloides ransomi* can cause diarrhoea in suckling pigs, especially in tropical areas (Greve, 2012). The small hairlike nematode (3-5 mm) resides embedded in the mucosa of the proximal small intestine where it can cause villus atrophy and inflammation if present in sufficient numbers (Brown, 2007c). The eggs that are excreted with faeces hatch into larvae that either develop into an infective L3 stage or turn into free-living adults (Viney & Lok, 2015). The infective L3 larvae can be transmitted to new hosts by percutaneous, oral, transcolostral, or prenatal spread (Greve, 2012). The principal route of infection for neonatal animals is believed to be transcolostral. The prevalence of *Strongyloides* in Scandinavian pigs has been investigated in a number of studies and has invariably been reported as very low or non-existent (Haugegaard, 2010; Roepstorff *et al.*, 1998; Roepstorff & Jorsal, 1989).

#### 1.4.4 Non-infectious causes of neonatal porcine diarrhoea

Descriptions of non-infectious causes of NPD are limited and generally attributed to nutritional causes. 'Indigestive scours' is described as mild diarrhoea in otherwise healthy-looking piglets and has been attributed to overfeeding. This type of diarrhoea is therefore most common at approximately 10 days after farrowing, concurrent with the peak in lactation (Alexander, 1981). The condition has however also been described in neonatal piglets and is believed to be associated with feeding the sows an energy-rich, high-protein diet before and after farrowing (Kongsted *et al.*, 2013; Alexander, 1981). The association seem however to be based mainly on practical experience. It has furthermore been proposed that the presence of mycotoxins in sow feed could contribute to diarrhoea in suckling piglets (Alexander, 1981). The most relevant mycotoxins for Swedish pig production (deoxynivalenol and zearalenon) are however primarily associated with reproductive problems, feed refusal, and reduced weight gain (Nordkvist & Häggblom, 2014; D'mello *et al.*, 1999).

Starvation or 'deprivation scours' may be another non-infectious cause of NPD (Alexander, 1981). In such cases, diarrhoea is described not only to depend on a deficient passive immunity but also to have a malabsorptive component, as colostrum is vital for the early development and maturation of the intestine (Kongsted *et al.*, 2013; Lippke *et al.*, 2011; Jensen *et al.*, 2001). Deprivation scours is usually seen during the first week of life and may affect single piglets in a litter. Piglets become thin, rough-coated and present with empty or nearly empty stomach and intestines at necropsy (Alexander, 1981).

<sup>28</sup> 

# 1.5 Aspects on the diagnosis of enteral disease in neonatal piglets

For investigations of infectious diseases, identification of the causative agent is crucial. Microbiological diagnosis of enteric infections is however complicated by the fact that the gastrointestinal tract normally contains a complex mix of microorganisms. The mere detection of a specific organism in the intestine of a diseased animal does therefore not automatically indicate that disease resulted from its presence. In infectious medicine, Koch's postulates have a central role in the establishment of causation and can be described in four steps: 1) establishment of an association between the presence of an organism and the disease, 2) isolation of the organism, 3) reproduction of the disease in a susceptible host, and 4) re-isolation of the organism from the experimentally infected animal. Since the original postulates were proposed in the 1880s, they have been shown to have some limitations and have hence been revised repeatedly (Mokili *et al.*, 2012; Falkow, 1988; Evans, 1976). However, although different biomedical disciplines of today use slightly different but overlapping criteria, most are derived from the basic concepts stated above.

Most of the previously established causes of NPD have been shown to fulfil the general guidelines for defining a pathogen as denoted by Koch's postulates. The diagnosis of NPD has thus largely focused on the detection of these agents, traditionally by direct methods such as culturing, microscopy, and antigen-based tests. However, with the introduction of highly sensitive molecular diagnostics, also low-level infections of uncertain clinical significance may be detected. Microbiological findings must therefore be interpreted with care and in relation to the clinical signs and pathological lesions in the diseased animal, as well as current knowledge of the associated disease.

Apart from determining the infectious cause, investigations of NPD in a herd should also include examination of other, potentially contributing factors. Major determinants for the manifestation of NPD are depicted in Figure 1 and include the passive immunity transferred by colostrum, the environmental temperature, and the infection pressure of the specific pathogens present in the herd (Martineau, 1995; Drew & Owen, 1988; Sarmiento, 1983; Kelley *et al.*, 1982; Blecha & Kelley, 1981). An inadequate passive protection can result from a weak colostral immunity (lack of protective antibodies towards the infectious agent present) or an insufficient colostrum intake (Martineau, 1995). Prophylactic measures against NPD often focus on the former by implementing vaccination schemes, but inadequate colostrum intake is also a frequent problem (Martineau *et al.*, 1992). Hypo-consumption of colostrum can both be related to maternal factors such as postpartum dysgalactia syndrome (PPDS)

and to factors related to weak piglets, such as low birth-weight and hypothermia (Svensmark *et al.*, 1988; Le Dividich & Noblet, 1981). Due to the piglet's sensitivity to cold-stress, the environmental temperature is an important factor in determining the susceptibility to disease (Pedersen *et al.*, 2013; Malmkvist *et al.*, 2006; Herpin *et al.*, 2002). In addition, a low ambient temperature together with high humidity can contribute to the prolonged survival of many infectious agents (Fairbrother, 2012). However, an all in-all out batch farrowing system is the most important factor to avoid a build-up of pathogens in the environment, as it allows for thorough sanitation of the farrowing unit between batches (Bowman *et al.*, 1996; Dewey *et al.*, 1995; Martineau, 1995).

Thus, presence of NPD in a herd should be viewed as the result from the interaction of a multitude of factors that need to be examined in order to find rational means for intervention.



*Figure 1*. Fishbone diagram of factors important for the occurrence of neonatal porcine diarrhoea. Modified from (Ramirez, 2012)

### 1.6 New neonatal porcine diarrhoea

During the last decades, some studies from North America have indicated a relative increase in NPD not caused by ETEC, *C. perfringens* type C, or TGEV (Farzan, 2013; Yaeger *et al.*, 2002). In 2006 to 2010, a few reports from European countries including Sweden, Denmark and France described a similar situation with NPD in well-managed herds, despite the use of

previously effective preventive measures (Gin, 2010; Melin, 2010; Svensmark, 2009; Goillandeau, 2006). The condition was described to be unrelated to previously well-known enteropathogens and was by some referred to as 'new neonatal porcine diarrhoea' (NNPD). However, at the start of this project in 2011, studies characterising microbiological findings in relation to pathological changes and passive immunity were lacking.



Photo by Tim Meier

# 2 Hypothesis and aims

The hypothesis of the present study was that diarrhoea in newborn piglets in Sweden has other causes than the well-established enteropathogens previously associated with NPD.

The overall aim was to characterise the problem with NPD present in Swedish piglet-producing herds despite the use of previously well-functioning preventive measures such as maternal vaccination against ETEC. The specific objectives were:

- To assess the occurrence and manifestation of NPD in Swedish pigletproducing herds
- To characterise the pathology associated with neonatal diarrhoea in piglets from herds affected by NPD
- To investigate the presence of bacterial enteropathogens previously associated with piglet diarrhoea, the piglets' passive immune status, and important environmental factors in herds affected by NPD
- To investigate the presence of mammalian viruses in the intestine of diarrhoeic and healthy piglets from herds affected by NPD

# 3 Comments on materials and methods

The material and methods used are detailed in each paper. The studies can be divided into two separate parts; a questionnaire study on herd characteristics and management routines related to NPD in piglet-producing herds (paper I), and a case control study performed in ten selected herds (paper II-IV) including investigations on pathology, microbiology, passive immune status, and some environmental factors. Considerations regarding the methods used are presented below.

# Occurrence and characteristics of neonatal porcine diarrhoea in Swedish piglet-producing herds (I)

Reports from the field indicated that NPD had become a common clinical problem in Swedish piglet-producing herds, despite the continuous use of previously effective preventive measures. This seemingly altered manifestation of NPD warranted investigations on the magnitude and characteristics of the problem. The herd-level prevalence of NPD had previously not been estimated in Sweden.

To include as many piglet-producing herds as possible in the sample frame, contact was established with the two main organisations carrying out organised porcine health management; the Swedish Animal Health Service (SvDHV; presently known as Farm and Animal Health) and Lunden's Animal Health Service. Together these organisations were estimated to cover the majority (~86%) of all piglet-producing herds in Sweden<sup>4</sup> (Statistics Sweden, 2012). A total of 170 herds were selected at random from the sample frame. However, herds with less than 10 sows were substituted, as these herds were considered not to be representative for Swedish pig production.

<sup>4.</sup> Personal communication Erik Lindahl (Lunden's Animal Health Service) and Sten-Olof Dimander (Swedish Animal Health Service)

We hypothesised that a higher response rate could be achieved if the questionnaires were distributed and completed at the routine herd visits performed by the veterinarians, compared to being distributed by mail. However, the approach could also introduce some bias as the veterinarians may be more motivated to ensure that the questionnaire was carried out in herds affected by NPD. Moreover, some veterinarians (4 out of 17) were not able to complete the study and thus, the corresponding questionnaires were distributed directly to the herds by mail, after an initial telephone contact. Potential differences between veterinarians and distribution method was however not included in the analysis due to the small number of questionnaires per veterinarian and hence these potential biases must be taken into consideration when interpreting the results.

To increase the comprehensiveness of the questions, the questionnaire was pilot-tested in six herds but despite this, 12 out of the total 59 questions had to be excluded in the data-editing process because of inadequately designed questions.

The outcome variable, presence of neonatal diarrhoea, was specified in the questionnaire as diarrhoea in piglets younger than seven days with the possible responses "Yes", "No", and "Occasional cases". The third option "Occasional cases" was included to separate herds with only sporadic cases of NPD, from herds having a recurrent problem. In the statistical analyses of potential risk factors associated with NPD, the outcome was treated as a binomial variable where "No" and "Occasional cases" were merged.

To include as many responses as possible in the regression analyses, missing data was managed by multiple imputation. Only variables applicable for all respondents were imputed. Considering the large number of variables registered for the in total 98 responses used, selection of variables for analyses by logistic regression models were based on univariable associations with NPD of P<0.2, which limited the number of explanatory variables to 12. However, as the association of NPD and herd size (measured as number of sows in production; SIP) can be assumed to be partially mediated by differences in management between larger and smaller herds, management factors can be defined as intervening variables in the causal pathway between herd size and NPD. Since variables identified as "intervening" should not be included in a response model (Martin, 2014), the effect of SIP was estimated in a univariable logistic regression model.

Data from non-responders were unfortunately not available and it was therefore not possible to investigate if responder and non-responder herds differed in terms of size, production results etc. Hence, the external validity of

<sup>36</sup>
the study is difficult to estimate and generalization of the results to the entire target population must therefore be made with care.

# 3.2 Pathological and bacteriological characterisation of neonatal porcine diarrhoea of uncertain aetiology (II)

# 3.2.1 Selection of herds and animals

The included herds (n=10, A-J) were selected as representative of the particular problem, i.e. NPD should be present as a clinical problem despite maternal vaccination against ETEC. Moreover, the herds had to be located in the middle of Sweden (Figure 2) for two reasons: 1) to enable submission of live animals for necropsy to obtain intestinal samples of good quality for histopathology (Cross & Kohler, 1969), and 2) to ensure standardized sampling and rapid access to laboratory processing at the Section of Pathology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU, Uppsala, Sweden) and the National Veterinary Institute (NVI, Uppsala, Sweden), respectively.



Figure 2. Approximate location of herds included in paper II-IV. Herd A and E were satellite herds in the same sow pool. Herd I and J were in proximity to each other and partially employed the same personnel.  $\bigcirc$  = Uppsala. (Source: Swedish Land Survey).

Each herd was visited during two consecutive days, at time-points when diarrhoea typically occurred in the individual herd. At each farm, five diarrhoeic piglets and two non-diarrhoeic piglets younger than one week of age were selected. The presence of diarrhoea was assessed based on apparent faecal consistency. Animals with loose to watery faeces were considered diarrhoeic and animals with shaped, firm to soft faeces were considered nondiarrhoeic (Figure 3). Piglets were selected from as many different litters as possible. None of the selected piglets were treated with antibiotics since that would have affected the bacteriological investigations. To avoid interference from secondary infections all piglets had been ill for less than 24 h. The control piglets should preferably be of the same age as the diarrhoeic piglets and selected from litters with no signs of diarrhoea. However, the options for selection were limited to the litters present at the time of the visits. Finding suitable controls was in general more difficult and therefore the control piglets ended up to be slightly older, a difference that was considered in the analyses when necessary. In one herd (J), all litters fulfilling the criteria (less than a week of age and untreated) where affected by diarrhoea at the visit and hence the healthy control piglets were selected from the least affected litter.

Investigation of environmental risk factors was not the main focus of this study but intended to reveal obvious shortcomings, possibly contributing to the problem in the individual herd. Thus, the temperature of the creep area was measured and the cleanliness of the farrowing pens estimated for all pens in use at the visit. The cleanliness estimates were based on the percentage of the non-slatted floor in the pens that was wet and/or covered with faeces (0-20%, >20-60% or >60-100%). It should however be pointed out that since these estimates were made before noon, the pens had been recently cleaned. An overview of characteristics of selected herds is given in Table 2.

Table 2. Descriptive data on the ten herds (A-J) selected for investigation. (TS= trimethoprim/sulphonamide combinations, mv= missing value)	lata on the ten	1 herds (A-J) 2	selected for in	vestigation. (	TS= trimethof	ərim/sulphonc	ımide combinı	ations, mv= n	iissing value)	
Herd	А	В	C	D	Е	ч	IJ	Н	Ι	Ĺ
Type of production	Satellite	Farrow-to- finish	Piglet production	Piglet production	Satellite	Piglet production	Piglet production	Farrow-to- finish	Satellite	Farrow-to- finish
Sows in production		800	600	1100	2	160	500	120	3	250
Recruitment of gilts	Internal	mv	Internal	Internal	Internal	Internal	Purchase	Internal	Purchase	Purchase
Days empty between batches	5	$\overline{\nabla}$	4	5	2-5	7-14	4	$\overline{\vee}$	Г	mv
Sanitation between batches	Washing + disinfection	Washing	Washing + disinfection	Washing	Washing + disinfection	Washing	Washing	Washing	Washing	Washing + disinfection
Antimicrobial used to treat NPD	Neomycin	TS	Penicillin	Penicillin	ST	TS	TS	Enro- floxacin	ST	ST
Proportion of diarrhoeic litters at the visit	30% (7/23)	36% (12/33)	43% (16/37)	47% (8/17)	63% (12/19)	17% (4/24)	33% (9/27)	19% (6/31)	67% (14/21)	50% (9/18)
Median temperature in creep area (°C)	23	32.7	28.3	26	22.4	30.7	28.5	33.6	31.5	31.5
No of litters sampled	7	5	5	7	7	9	7	7	9	3
Time of visit	June and September 2011	October 2011	November 2011	January 2012	February 2012	March 2012	March 2012	April 2012	April 2012	May 2012
1 Farrowing on a weekly hasis 50 or 10 sows alternating every other week	v basis 50 or 10	) sows alternati	no every other y	veek						

Farrowing on a weekly basis, 50 or 10 sows alternating every other week
Farrowing every two weeks, 44 sows per batch
Farrowing every seven or eight weeks, 72 sows per batch

5;



*Figure 3.* Photo of a healthy piglet with normal faecal consistency (left) and a diarrhoeic piglet with perineal staining (right). (As seen in the left photo, defecation is often prompted when the rectal temperature is measured; photo by Tim Meier and Jenny Larsson)

Upon arrival at the Section of pathology, SLU, one of the 20 control piglets was diarrhoeic and therefore excluded from the study. It is unclear if the animal had fallen ill during the transport (a maximum of three hours) or if it was misclassified as non-diarrhoeic during the clinical examination performed in the herd.

All animals were cross-breeds (Yorkshire  $\times$  Landrace  $\times$  Hampshire/Duroc). Clinical data on the diarrhoeic and non-diarrhoeic piglets used in study II-IV is given in Table 3.

Table 3. Median age, weight, rectal temperature and the proportion female/males among 50 diarrhoeic and 19 non-diarrhoeic piglets from ten herds selected for pathological and microbiological investigations.

	Diarrhoeic	Non-diarrhoeic	
Age <sup>1</sup>	1 day	2 days	
Female	66%	63%	
Male	34%	37%	
Weight	1.6 kg	1.8 kg	
Rectal temperature	38.8°C	39.0°C	

1. Age was registered as <1 day (born the night before the visit), 1 day old (born the day before the visit), etc.

## 3.2.2 Analysis of the piglets' passive immune status

Blood was collected prior to euthanasia and serum analysed by serum protein electrophoresis (SPE) that separates serum proteins into six different fractions (albumin,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2$  and  $\gamma$ ). Immunoglobulins consitute the major part of the  $\gamma$ -fraction (especially IgG) but may also be found at lower levels in the other fractions (mainly in the  $\beta$ -fractions) (Vavricka *et al.*, 2009). In this study we focused only on the  $\gamma$ -fraction and hence this has to be taken into account when comparing the results with other studies.

Moreover, the serum concentration of immunoglobulins in newborn piglets is dynamic. The highest concentrations are usually observed at 24 h after birth but a decline can be seen already within a couple of days (Kruse, 1983; Frenyo *et al.*, 1980). To adjust for the slight difference in age between diarrhoeic and non-diarrhoeic piglets, the association between immunoglobulin concentration and diarrhoea was analysed with a linear regression model including age as an explanatory factor.

All serum samples were analysed simultaneously (Nov 2012) to avoid interanalysis variation, hence the storage time (at -70°C) prior to analysis varied between the samples. However, no substantial effect on the concentration of  $\gamma$ globulins was evident as in two animals, whose sera had been stored the longest, the concentrations were 10g/L higher than the average.

#### 3.2.3 Pathology

Piglets were euthanized by initial anaesthesia with an intramuscular injection of tiletamine and zolazepam, followed by intracardiac injection of pentobarbital sodium. The method was chosen since it is quick and easy to perform. Moreover, intracardiac injection of the barbiturate was preferred over intra-peritoneal injection (which often is used under field conditions) to minimize any effects on the intestinal tissues.

All intestinal tissue samples were put in 10% neutral-buffered formalin within 30 min *post mortem*. This procedure proved to be rapid enough as very few autolytic changes were observed on histopathology. For an overview of samples collected during the necropsies see Table 4.

Type of sample	Sampling site	Number of samples per pig
Intestinal swabs for bacteriology	Distal jejunum, proximal colon, rectum	6
Intestinal contents for bacteriology	Proximal colon, rectum	2
Intestinal tissue samples for histopathology	Duodenum, proximal jejunum, distal jejunum, ileum, cecum, proximal colon, distal colon	7
Intestinal tissue samples frozen in liquid nitrogen	Duodenum, proximal jejunum, distal jejunum, ileum, cecum, proximal colon, distal colon	7
Intestinal contents	Small intestine, large intestine	2-4
Mucosal scrapings for parasitology	Duodenum, proximal, mid and distal jejunum, ileum, proximal colon	6
Additional tissue samples	Stomach, liver, pancreas, spleen, kidney, thymus, lung, heart, abdominal wall, bone marrow	10

Table 4. Overview of samples collected from each piglet at necropsy.

To avoid overfixation that may impede subsequent analyses (e.g. immunohistochemistry), tissue samples were transferred to 70% ethanol after 24 h, and cut and embedded in paraffin within 48 h.

As descriptions of pathological changes are subjective, it is important that the investigators are blinded to the health status of the animals. This was however difficult to achieve in the macroscopic examinations, as the presence of diarrhoea in most cases was obvious. Presence of macroscopic changes was

recorded using a standardized protocol. The parameters included are given in Table 5. For consistency, all piglets were examined by the same two persons (the author and Rodrigo Grandon, pathologist at SLU).

Table 5. Gross changes recorded during necropsy. Unless stated otherwise, changes were graded as mild, moderate, or severe.

Parameter	Comments on grading
Body condition	Graded as 'poor', 'poor to normal' or 'normal' based on the protrusion of ribs and backbone
Stomach contents	Presence of stomach content was recorded as absent, sparse, or normal amounts of clotted milk
Changes in mesenteric lymph nodes	Enlargement of mesenteric lymph nodes was difficult to assess due to the young age of the animals. However, no animal had clearly enlarged or hyperaemic mesenteric lymph nodes
Dilation of the intestine	Grading of increased diameter of the intestinal lumen. Assessed individually for the small and large intestine
Hyperaemia of the intestine	Grading of presence of diffuse redness and congested blood vessels. Assessed individually for the small and large intestine
Intestinal contents	The content of the distal colon/rectum was assessed using the same criteria as described for clinical categorisation of animals as diarrhoeic or non-diarrhoeic
	Since the consistency of the contents in the small intestine normally is fluid, categorising the contents as abnormal or normal is difficult in the absence of blood or fibronecrotic debris. Neither was present in any animal
Mesocolonic oedema	Graded based on the separation of colonic loops as described by (Yaeger <i>et al.</i> , 2007)
Macroscopic lesions in other organs	Lesions outside of the GI tract were described briefly

Histopathological investigations included descriptions of villus:crypt (V/C) ratio in the small intestine, epithelial morphology, and cellularity in the lamina propria. The V/C ratio was estimated with aid from the scale bar in the ocular. As this rather crude measure was used, only cases with clear alterations of the villous morphology were recorded as atrophy. The reported V/C ratio in

healthy newborn piglets is approximately 6:1 or more in the jejunum, but can be lower in the duodenum and ileum (Jonach, 2014; Gancarčíková, 2012; Hooper & Haelterman, 1969). Based on these considerations, villous atrophy was registered if the V/C ratios were  $\leq 3:1$  in any of the small intestinal segments. V/C ratios were not possible to determine in all segments (proximal small intestine in 12 piglets and distal small intestine in 4 animals), as reliable assessments require that tissue sections are well oriented and cut transsectionally. To achieve this, intestinal samples can be nailed onto pieces of corkboard before fixation. This was tried on samples from five piglets (from herd A) but since the results were not substantially improved, this approach was abandoned. If a more sensitive method had been used for the determination of V/C ratio, such as quantification by morphometric measurements, a proportion of diarrhoeic piglets had probably been regarded to have mild, small intestinal atrophy. However, morphometry is very timeconsuming and since investigation of villus atrophy was not the main purpose, this investigation was excluded.

Special attention was given to the potential presence of microbes within or attaching to the intestinal epithelium, e.g. intracellular protozoa or bacterial colonisation. As intracellular bacteria may be difficult to detect by light microscopy, immunohistochemistry was performed for *Chlamydia* spp. that is commonly detected in Swedish pig herds (Englund *et al.*, 2012).

Mucosal scrapings from the small and large intestine, as well as samples of intestinal contents, were collected for the purpose of parasitological investigations. However, due the low age of the piglets and the prepatent period for *Cystoisospora suis* and *Cryptosporidium* spp. (5 and 2-9 days, respectively) it was considered more likely to detect developmental stages of protozoa on histological sections (Lindsay, 2012) and as no protozoa were observed in the intestinal mucosa in any animal, further parasitological investigations were not considered motivated.

# 3.2.4 Bacteriology

## Sampling and culturing procedures

Initial bacteriological investigations focused on bacterial agents previously associated with NPD, i.e. *E. coli*, *C. perfringens*, and *C. difficile*. The sites chosen for sampling were based on previous descriptions on the typical site of infection. In addition, samples were collected from the rectum, to mimic the field situation where samples usually are collected from live animals.

To avoid environmental contamination and *post mortem* overgrowth, bacterial samples were collected immediately after death by incising the

intestinal wall with a sterile scalpel blade and rubbing a cotton swab against the mucosa. All samples were cultured at the NVI immediately after the completion of the necropsies. A delay between sampling and culture can have adverse effects on bacterial viability, especially for sensitive organisms such as *C. difficile*. Thus, bacterial swabs were kept in Amies transport medium with charcoal until cultured. The maximum time-interval between sampling and culture was approximately 8 h. The effect of this delay on the viability of *C. difficile* should be minor as storage in commercial anaerobic transport medium has been shown to preserve viable *C. difficile* in faecal samples for 72 h (Weese *et al.*, 2000).

## Escherichia coli

The investigation of *E. coli* was based on the routine method used at the NVI for detection of ETEC in clinical samples. Two representative *E. coli* colonies per sample (i.e. four per pig) were subcultured and subsequently analysed for the presence of selected virulence genes. Studies performed by Söderlind and Möllby (1979) show that at least one out of three colonies per pig (from faecal cultures) will be enterotoxin-positive in samples from diarrhoeic piglets harbouring ETEC. Although that study was performed on a limited number of piglets (n=20) it clearly demonstrates that ETEC predominates the intestinal *E. coli* flora in piglets suffering from ETEC diarrhoea.

Detection of virulence genes were performed by PCR systems previously validated at the NVI. The investigations focused on the presence of virulence genes associated with ETEC, as well as other types of diarrhoeagenic *E. coli* that have been associated with NPD.

Attempts were made to set up a PCR for paa (porcine attaching effacing associated protein). However, our preliminary results indicated that previously described PCR-systems gave ambiguous results and due to the limited time frame, the presence of paa was not investigated further.

Based on results from the PCR-screening, interesting isolates were selected for further analysis of additional virulence genes associated with pathogenic *E. coli* by a microarray, and for O-typing by seroagglutination. The test panel used for O-typing was developed at the NVI and cover the O-groups that previously have been associated with piglet diarrhoea in Sweden. Since a recent study of NNPDS in Denmark indicated that O111-isolates could be associated with the diarrhoea, this O-group was screened for by PCR (Hermann-Bank, 2014). Clostridium perfringens type A and C (CpA, CpC), and Clostridium difficile

As the role of CpA and *C. difficile* in NPD is unclear, the sampling were designed to allow for possible extended investigations of these agents. Thus, in addition to direct culturing, spore selection and enrichment was performed to increase the isolation rate. Further, attempts were made to subculture up to five colonies from the direct cultures of one randomly selected diarrhoeic and one non-diarrhoeic animal per herd.

Step one in the investigations of clostridia was to examine the potential presence of CpC and thus toxinotyping was performed on isolates from the distal jejunum, being the typical site of CpC infection. As it is recommended to investigate more than one isolate per animal (Buogo *et al.*, 1995), toxinotyping was performed on all isolates from positive jejunal samples. From 20 animals only one isolate was available, and even if this decreases the sensitivity, presence of CpC was considered highly unlikely combining the negative PCR-results for the beta-toxin gene and the lack of typical lesions in the intestine. In addition to the PCR screening for major toxin genes, isolates of *C. perfringens* were also examined for the presence of enterotoxin and beta2-toxin genes, as these toxins have been suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of CpA-enteritis.

Detection of toxins in intestinal contents has been suggested as diagnostic for NPD caused by both CpA (beta2-toxin) and *C. difficile* (toxin A and B) but the value of these tests is questionable since these toxins also are found in healthy pigs (Farzan, 2013; Yaeger *et al.*, 2007). Isolation of CpA and *C. difficile* could not be related to diarrhoea or intestinal lesions in the present study. Thus, examination of toxins in intestinal contents was regarded as unmotivated.

# 3.3 The intestinal eukaryotic virome in healthy and diarrhoeic piglets (III)

A potential viral contribution to the investigated diarrhoea was examined by viral metagenomics. In contrast to other diagnostic methods that are based on the detection of viral nucleic acid or viral antigens of a certain virus (or virus group), viral metagenomics does not require targeting of a specific pathogen. In that sense, viral metagenomics is often described as an unbiased screening of the viruses present in a sample (Mokili *et al.*, 2012; Delwart, 2007). It thus allows the detection of viruses not previously associated with the condition under investigation, or variants of viruses that may be overlooked using specific sequence-based detection methods.

The herds and animals used in this study were the same as in paper II. The sample material consisted of transverse sections from the distal jejunum collected at the necropsies and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. This sample site was chosen as most enteric viral infections primarily affect the distal small intestine.

The steps in viral metagenomics studies can be divided into three main steps: sample preparation, high-throughput sequencing, and bioinformatics analyses. However, since viral metagenomics is a relatively new method, the protocols used are continuously being developed and improved. Some important considerations of the different steps will thus be briefly mentioned below.

In most samples, viral nucleic acids only constitute a fraction of the total DNA and RNA. The purpose of the sample preparation is therefore to preserve the viral component while other contaminating nucleic acids (primarily from the host and bacteria) are depleted (Delwart, 2007). As viral nucleic acids are protected by the viral capsid, a frequently used method is to treat samples with nucleases to degrade non-capsid protected DNA and RNA (Allander *et al.*, 2001). However, samples will still contain residual non-viral nucleic acids, especially rRNA, due to its abundance and stability (Blomström, 2011). This must hence be considered in subsequent analyses. An overview of the sample preparation methods used is depicted in Figure 4.

Due to the low concentration of viral nucleic acids (nanograms or even pikograms), amplification is usually necessary prior to sequencing. This preamplification should ideally be completely sequence-independent to preserve the genetic composition in the sample. Unfortunately this is very difficult to achieve and hence, different amplification methods will induce different types of bias. Sequence-independent single-primer amplification (SISPA) is one of the most widely used approaches for pre-sequencing template amplification in virology (Reyes & Kim, 1991). In the present study, we used a modified SISPA protocol that has been shown to decrease the bias introduced, by using longer random primers (12 instead of 6 nucleotides) and two different amplification-tags (Rosseel *et al.*, 2013). However, some bias will unavoidably still be present due to annealing bias combined with the non-linear amplification and thus, this prevents the results from being interpreted quantitatively (Karlsson *et al.*, 2013; Rosseel *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 4. Overview of sample preparation before sequence-independent amplification. Transverse sections of the jejunum was put in 1 ml of PBS 5% BSA solution and subjected to three consecutive cycles of freeze-thawing and homogenisation. After homogenisation, samples were centrifuged and the supernatants were collected and filtered through a 0.45 µm sterile filter. The filtered supernatant was subsequently treated with a nuclease cocktail containing both DNase and RNase. Each sample was thereafter split into two fractions, one for DNA and one for RNA extraction.

6:

Sequencing was performed using the IonTorrent-platform at the National Genomics Infrastructure (NGI) in Uppsala to ensure that library preparation and sequencing was performed in a standardized way. Prior to taxonomic classification, the datasets were quality-assessed using PrinSeq (Schmieder & Edwards, 2011) and host-sequences removed by mapping the datasets towards the pig reference genome using Bowtie2 (Langmead & Salzberg, 2012). Taxonomic classification on nucleotide level was performed by Kraken (Wood & Salzberg, 2014) using an in-house database covering all sequences from the viral (VRL) and phage (PHG) divisions of GenBank (NCBI; available on the 2015-07-03, release 208), as well as the bacterial and archaeal sequences from RefSeq. In addition, reads were classified on protein-level by Diamond (Buchfink et al., 2015) using the NCBI non-redundant protein sequences database and by scanning the predicted protein sequences with a database of hidden Markov model profiles, vFam, specifically built using viral sequences (Skewes-Cox et al., 2014). As the primary focus of the study was to find a potential cause of the diarrhoea, we chose to focus on mammalian viruses.

Pooling of samples prior to sequencing had to be performed to limit the costs. We chose to pool samples from diarrhoeic animals for each herd whereas the samples from healthy piglets were analysed separately due to the relatively low number of healthy pigs. Thus, detected viral sequences could not be related to individual piglets and since the data from diarrhoeic and healthy samples were not directly comparable they are presented descriptively.

The sensitivity of viral detection by viral metagenomics has previously been reported to be comparable to PCR (Li *et al.*, 2015; Greninger *et al.*, 2010) and it is hence unlikely that a previously described virus responsible for causing diarrhoea should be overlooked. However, more studies are needed to determine the levels of detection in different types of complex clinical samples.

# 3.4 Neonatal piglet diarrhoea associated with enteroadherent Enterococcus hirae (IV)

The selection of animals was based on the observation of enteroadherent coccoid bacteria in the small intestine by light microscopy (paper II). This finding was made in piglets from six herds, denoted as A-F, which corresponds to herd B, C, F, H, I and J in paper II. Non-diarrhoeic animals from the same herds were included for comparison. The aim of the study was to identify the colonising agent and to characterise the associated intestinal pathology in detail.

16S rRNA analysis of colonised tissue from one animal identified the enteroadherent bacterium as *E. hirae*. As indicated by light microscopy, only

one type of bacterium (as judged by morphology) was observed adhering to the epithelium in large numbers, and thus it was possible to obtain a "clean" sequence by amplifying the 16S rRNA gene from intestinal tissue by PCR, followed by traditional Sanger sequencing.

As a next step we wanted to analyse the presence of E. *hirae* in all colonised animals. However, since enterococci normally can be found in the intestinal flora, the mere detection of E. *hirae* in intestinal contents would not be sufficient to indicate that this species was the colonising agent. We therefore decided to use two different approaches: identification of the colonising agent by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) and investigation of the composition of the enterococcal flora by culturing. The latter was based on the hypothesis that if E. *hirae* was the agent responsible for this massive colonisation it would also be the predominating enterococcal species on culture.

As species in the *E. faecium* group are very closely related, it was difficult to design a FISH probe targeting 16S or 23S rRNA that were specific for *E. hirae* (Vancanneyt *et al.*, 2001). Instead, a 16S rRNA probe targeting the genus *Enterococcus* (Enc221) previously used to investigate intestinal colonisation in kittens, was employed (Nicklas *et al.*, 2010; Wellinghausen *et al.*, 2007). The Cy3-labelled Enc221 probe yielded a strong signal when tested on a positive control consisting of lung tissue prepared with a reference strain of *E. hirae*. In addition, an eubacterial probe (Eub338) labelled with 6-FAM was used simultaneously on all samples as a positive hybridization control. Some unspecific hybridization with rod-shaped bacteria in the lumen was observed with the Enc221 probe in a few animals. However, these bacteria were easily distinguished from the coccoid bacteria outlining the villi.

To investigate the enterococcal flora, bacterial swabs were collected from the spiral colon that had been stored at -70°C. Slanetz and Bartely agar was used for selective culturing displaying enterococci as pink colonies. However, *Streptococcus (S.) gallolyticus* can also exhibit pink colonies on this medium (Devriese *et al.*, 1998), which explains why a large number of colonies (predominantly from healthy piglets) were identified as *S. gallolyticus*. Matrixassisted laser desorption ionisation time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) was used for species identification as the method is cheap and fast, thereby allowing for examination of a larger number of colonies per sample. Species identification of *E. hirae* by MALDI-TOF MS was confirmed by PCR.

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was performed to examine the interaction between the bacteria and the microvillous border. Although the samples were not optimally collected for TEM, the samples had been similarly treated and were hence comparable.

<sup>50</sup> 

Apoptosis of enterocytes at the tips of villi is a physiological process but seldom evident by routine microscopic investigation of H&E-stained small intestinal sections from healthy animals. However, in segments with enteroadherent colonisation, cells with a rounded shape and eosinophilic cytoplasm were observed. As a number of pathogenic bacteria are able to induce apoptosis (Grassme *et al.*, 2001) we wanted to further validate these observations. Activated caspase-3 has been demonstrated to be a good marker for apoptosis (Duan *et al.*, 2003) and immunohistochemistry for activated caspase-3 confirmed our findings.

For antimicrobial susceptibility testing of *E. hirae* (one *E. hirae* isolate per herd) we chose to use the VetMIC panels GN-mo and GP-mo instead of the enterococcal panel (VetMIC E-cocci) as the former two together cover a larger number of clinically relevant antimicrobials.

# 4 Results and discussion

In 2011 when this work began, single European reports had described the occurrence of a seemingly new form of NPD, present despite the continuous use of previously effective preventive measures (Gin, 2010; Melin, 2010; Svensmark, 2009; Goillandeau, 2006). Previous investigations in Sweden was limited to one microbiological investigation on diarrhoeic piglets (n=17) from six herds (Melin, 2010). However, the magnitude of the problem among Swedish piglet-producing herds was unknown and studies characterising microbiological findings in relation to pathological changes and passive immunity were lacking.

# 4.1 Occurrence and characteristics of neonatal porcine diarrhoea in Swedish piglet-producing herds

The high herd-level prevalence described in paper I (79.6%) suggests that NPD is common among Swedish piglet-producing herds. However, although a relatively good response rate of 58% was achieved (Cummings *et al.*, 2001; Asch *et al.*, 1997), selection bias must be considered since farmers from herds with NPD might have been more motivated to complete the questionnaire. Nonetheless, even if all of the 72 non-responders were herds not experiencing NPD, the prevalence would still be considerable (45.9%).

Notably, many herds had a recurrent problem with NPD despite maternal vaccination against ETEC and, in some herds, also *C. perfringens* (39 of the 42 herds with recurrent problems). Eight of these herds estimated that the average proportion of piglets affected per batch was >25%, which indicates a substantial problem. The use of manure backfeeding<sup>5</sup> in six herds further underlines the dissatisfactory effect of commercial vaccines.

<sup>5.</sup> Feeding sows and gilts manure from diarrhoeic piglets prior to farrowing with the intention of preventing disease

The most frequently used antimicrobial treatment of NPD was trimethoprim/sulphonamide (sulfadiazine or sulfadoxine) which is the recommended treatment for colibacillosis (Medical Products Agency, 2012). However, 43% of the herds used other antimicrobials such as amoxicillin, penicillin, fluoroquinolones, neomycin or tylosin.

Taken together, these results suggest that NPD in Swedish herds may not always respond to prophylaxis and treatment targeting ETEC or *C. perfringens*. The results also conform to the bacteriological investigations in paper II, demonstrating the presence of NPD unrelated to ETEC and *C. perfringens*.

Further, herds with >200 sows in production had a higher risk (OR=4) of having NPD, compared with herds <200 SIP (P<0.01). The underlying biological explanation for this difference is unknown, and detailed studies on management practices in larger vs smaller herds are needed to untangle these relationships. Management routines indicated to be important in study I included washing routines in the farrowing unit (P=0.05) and efforts made to save week-born piglets (P=0.02). Interestingly, less rigorous washing routines were associated with a lower risk for diarrhoea. One explanation for this may be that a problem with NPD could be an incentive to increase the hygienic measures. The estimated ORs for the different efforts made to save weak-born piglets were uncertain and the association with NPD hence requires further investigation.

# 4.2 Pathological and microbiological investigations

An overview of pathological and microbiological findings in diarrhoeic piglets (paper II-IV) is presented in Table 5.

Approximately 40% of the diarrhoeic piglets (20/49, data missing for one piglet) had a poor body condition compared to 5% of the non-diarrhoeic piglets (1/19). As described in paper II, the intestinal pathological gross lesions found in diarrhoeic piglets were unspecific and consistent with the changes commonly seen in neonatal diarrhoea irrespective of the cause (Brown, 2007b). In agreement with previous studies, mesocolonic oedema was equally present in diarrhoeic and healthy animals (Farzan, 2013; Yaeger *et al.*, 2007).

On histopathology, the only consistent finding was small intestinal colonisation by gram-positive, enteroadherent cocci, subsequently identified as *E. hirae*. This colonisation was present in 18 of 30 diarrhoeic piglets (60%) in six herds. Further, villous epithelial damage and villous atrophy in the small intestine were only observed in diarrhoeic piglets and mainly in animals colonised by *E. hirae* (10/13 piglets with small intestinal epithelial damage and 4/5 piglets with villous atrophy were simultaneously colonised).

In the large intestine, mild miscellaneous epithelial lesions were only noted in a few animals. Further, no association was seen between large intestinal epithelial damage and the presence of mesocolonic oedema (P=0.46, Fisher's exact test). Thus, similar to most intestinal infections in newborn piglets, the small intestine seemed to be the primary site involved (Table 1).

Investigations of previously well-known causes of NPD (paper II) demonstrated that ETEC was rare (2/50 diarrhoeic piglets from herd A and E, respectively) and *C. perfringens* type C absent. This is consistent with the absence of these agents in the study by Melin *et al.* 2010 and data from the Swedish board of agriculture, reporting that *C. perfringens* type C is confined to the south-western parts of Sweden (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2005-2014). The low presence of ETEC may thus suggest an adequate effect of the routinely performed vaccination against ETEC.

Moreover, no difference in the serum  $\gamma$ -globulin concentrations were detected between diarrhoeic and healthy piglets (21.8±7.7 g/L versus 19.8±9.1 g/L, *P*=0.74) suggesting that the colostrum intake was sufficient (Svendsen *et al.*, 1972). Further, a large proportion of the diarrhoeic piglets originated from first parity sows (23/45 diarrhoeic piglets, compared to 3/17 of the healthy piglets; information missing for piglets from herd A). These results could indicate that the quality of colostrum may be more important. Interestingly, serum  $\gamma$ -globulin concentrations also seemed adequate in the two ETEC-positive pigs from herd A and E (30 g/L and 33 g/L, respectively). However, in these herds the temperature in the creep area was low (median temperature of 23°C, and 22.4°C respectively) which potentially could contribute to an increased susceptibility to disease (Steel & Torres-Medina, 1984; Sarmiento, 1983). Otherwise, no obvious shortcomings were identified in the farrowing environment (paper II).

It would have been interesting to investigate the presence of NPD in relation to maternal factors influencing early lactation. It is e.g. well-known that the presence of post-partum dysgalactia syndrome (PPDS) in sows results in an increased risk of pre-weaning diarrhoea (Wittum *et al.*, 1995; Svensmark *et al.*, 1988; Halgaard, 1980; Svendsen *et al.*, 1975). However, due to the practice of cross-fostering piglets after colostral intake, it was not possible to link individual piglets to their original sows.

*C. perfringens* type A (CpA) and *C. difficile* have been put forward as important causes of NPD during the last decades (Songer & Uzal, 2005; Yaeger *et al.*, 2002). CpA has previously been suggested as a cause of NPD in Sweden (Holmgren, 2004), but *C. difficile* has previously not been investigated in relation to NPD. In the present study (paper II), CpA and *C. difficile* was

commonly found both in diarrhoeic and healthy piglets, however moderate to profuse growth on direct culture was not related to diarrhoea.

In agreement with previous studies, the gene for beta2-toxin was highly prevalent among CpA isolates (151 positive isolates out of 152 tested) whereas the gene for enterotoxin was absent, implying that these genes are of little value for distinguishing commensal *C. perfringens* type A from strains allegedly associated with disease (Farzan, 2013; van Damme-Jongsten *et al.*, 1990). Furthermore, moderate to profuse growth of *C. perfringens* was not associated with small intestinal epithelial lesions in diarrhoeic piglets (54% of the diarrhoeic piglets with small intestinal lesions had moderate to profuse growth of *C. perfringens* compared to 83% of the piglets with no lesions, P=0.06, Fisher's exact test).

The isolation of *C. difficile* from all investigated piglets corresponds to previously reported, high detection rates of *C. difficile* in neonatal piglets (Hopman *et al.*, 2011; Weese *et al.*, 2010; Yaeger *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, lesions described as characteristic of *C. difficile*-induced NPD, including mesocolonic oedema and microscopic typhlocolitis (Songer & Uzal, 2005), were not related to diarrhoea and typical volcano lesions were not observed.

Thus, in the present material, a pathogenic role of CpA or *C. difficile* seems unlikely. However, the diagnosis of NPD associated with CpA and *C. difficile* is equivocal, and further work is needed to elucidate the pathogenic potential of these organisms in enteric disease of newborn piglets.

The presence of non-ETEC diarrhoeagenic *E. coli* not included in the vaccines has previously been discussed as a cause of NPD (Eriksson, 2012). The results from study II do however not support this. Isolates positive for STb:EAST1:AIDA-I were only occasionally found (6/276 isolates from two diarrhoeic and one healthy piglet) and neither did porcine EPEC seem to be involved. Moreover, extended investigations of EAST1-positive isolates did not demonstrate virulence gene profiles previously associated with enteropathogenicity. The results conform to previous studies demonstrating that pathotypes other than ETEC are uncommon in newborn pigs (Alexander, 1994). Thus, in agreement with the results from Melin *et al.* 2010, *E. coli* does not seem to play a major part in the investigated cases of diarrhoea.

Enteric virus infections in newborn piglets are generally associated with lysis of infected enterocytes, resulting in small intestinal villous atrophy and malabsorptive diarrhoea (Pospischil *et al.*, 1981; Moon, 1978). Thus, to cause diarrhoea, the virus must multiply and cause cell lysis in amounts sufficient to impair the absorption. Hence, viral diarrhoea is seldom seen in piglets younger than 24 h of age (Martineau, 1995). The very early onset of diarrhoea in herd A, D, E, G and J (the majority of the diarrhoeic piglets were  $\leq 1$  day old) may

thus speak against a primary viral cause. Moreover, a clearly altered V/C-ratio was only observed in five piglets (herd B, F, and H). Accordingly, few mammalian viruses were found by viral metagenomics analyses of the distal jejunum from diarrhoeic piglets (paper III). Among the viruses found in diarrhoeic pigs (Table 5), only rotavirus is considered an established enteropathogen in piglets (Thomson, 2012; Will et al., 1994; Morin et al., 1990). Rotavirus was detected in the pooled diarrhoeic sample from herd A (Rotavirus A) and herd B (Rotavirus A and C) and also in the healthy piglets from herd B. Since samples from the diarrhoeic animals were pooled, findings could not be related to individual animals but it is possible that rotavirus contributed to the small intestinal atrophy observed in two diarrhoeic piglets from herd B. Otherwise, the most common finding was sequences classified as belonging to the genus Kobuvirus with specific matches on nucleotide level to Aichivirus C. However, in agreement with previous studies (Di Bartolo et al., 2015; Verma et al., 2013; An et al., 2011), the presence seemed unassociated with diarrhoea (detected in 10/19 healthy piglets and in 4/10 pooled diarrhoeic). Further, a larger number of different virus families were detected in the healthy piglets ( $\geq 2$  were found in 8/19 healthy piglets and in 2/10 pooled diarrhoeic samples). This could be related to age, as healthy piglets were slightly older. Alternatively, the diarrhoea could have led to a decreased complexity of the intestinal virome. However, only one previous study has investigated the neonatal virome in healthy mammals (Lim et al., 2015) and further studies including individual analyses of diarrhoeic piglets are needed to clarify this.

The current work (paper II-III) thus demonstrate the occurrence of neonatal porcine diarrhoea where well-known enteropathogens found in the Swedish pig population were of minor importance (*E. coli* and rotavirus), absent (*C. perfringens* type C) or apparently unrelated to the diarrhoea (*C. perfringens* type A and *C. difficile*). Neither were protozoa such as *Cystoisospora suis* observed on histopathology. Overall, the only consistent finding was an association between enteroadherent *E. hirae* and NPD, since intestinal colonisation associated with mucosal lesions only was observed in diarrhoeic animals (paper II and IV).

Herd	Necropsy findings	Histopathology	Bacteriology <sup>1</sup>	Virology <sup>2</sup>
V	Moderate mesocolonic oedema and hydrothorax (1) Mild dilation of small and large intestine (1) Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)	Unspecific, apart from superficial epithelial damage in the small and large intestine in one piglet.	E. coli: STa:F5:F41 (1), STb:EAST1:AIDA-I (1) C. perfringens type A (5) C. difficle (2)	Rotavirus
В	Mild mesocolonic oedema (2) Mild to moderate dilation of small and/or large intestine (4) with mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1/4)	oedema (2)Small intestinal colonisation by enteroadherentfilation of small and/orenterococci accompanied by superficial epithelialwith mild hyperaemia ofdamage $(3)$ , villous atrophy $(2/3)$ , and large $(1/4)$ intestinal superficial epithelial damage $(1/3)$ .	<i>E. coli</i> : No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (3)	Kobuvirus Rotavirus
U	Moderate mesocolonic oedema (2) Mild to moderate dilation of small and/or large intestine (5) with moderate hyperaemia of the small intestine (2/5)	Small intestinal colonisation by enteroadherent enterococci (4), accompanied by superficial epithelial damage in the small intestine (1/4). Superficial large intestinal lesions (2/4). Extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the ileum despite intact epithelium with no bacterial colonisation (1).	<i>E. coli</i> : No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (3) <i>C. difficle</i> (3)	No mammalian viruses detected

Table 5. Overview of major pathological and microbiological findings in diarrhoeic piglets from ten herds (4-J) affected by NPD despite maternal vaccination

7:

Herd	Necropsy findings	Histopathology	Bacteriology	Virology
Q	Mild mesocolonic oedema (4) Mild dilation of small and large intestine (2) Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)	Unspecific, apart from one piglet with superficial epithelial damage in the large intestine	<i>E. colt</i> : No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (5) <i>C. difficle</i> (2)	No mammalian viruses detected
Ш	Mild mesocolonic oedema (1) Mild to moderate dilation of small and large intestine (3) with mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1/3) Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)	Mild mesocolonic oedema (1)Colonisation of distal small intestine by rod- shaped bacteria and extensive infiltration of large intestine (3) with mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1/3)Colonisation of distal small intestine (1) Extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the distal small intestine (1)Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)Extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the distal small intestine (1) despite intact epithelium with no bacterial colonisation (1)	E. coli: STa:F5:F41 (1) C. perfringens type A (5) C. difficle (1)	lotatorque- virus Unclassified circoviridae
Ľ.	Mild mesocolonic oedema (2) Mild to moderate dilation of small and large intestine (5) with mild to moderate hyperaemia of the small intestine (4/5)	Small intestinal colonisation by enteroadherent enterococci (4), accompanied by superficial epithelial damage (1/4).	<i>E. coli</i> : No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (1) <i>C. difficle</i> (1)	Kobuvirus
J	Mild or severe mesocolonic ocdema (1 piglet respectively) Mild dilation of small and/or large intestine (4) with mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1/4) Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)	Unspecific, apart from extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the ileum despite intact epithelium with no bacterial colonisation (2)	E. coli: STb:EAST1:AIDA-I Kobuvirus (1) C. perfringens type A (5) C. difficle (3)	Kobwirus

7;

nnn	Necropsy findings	Histopathology	Bacteriology	Virology
н	Mild mesocolonic oedema (1) Mild dilation of small and/or large intestine (3) with mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1/3) Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)	Small intestinal colonisation by enteroadherent enterococci (4), accompanied by superficial epithelial damage (3/4) and villous atrophy (1/4). Superficial epithelial damage, villous atrophy, and extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the distal small intestine without colonisation (1).	<i>E. coli</i> : No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (3) <i>C. difficle</i> (3)	No mammalian viruses detected
	Mild to moderate mesocolonic oedema (4) Mild dilation of small and/or large intestine (3) with mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (2/3)	Small intestinal colonisation by enteroadherent enterococci accompanied by superficial epithelial damage (1) Extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the ileum despite intact epithelium with no bacterial colonisation (1) Superficial epithelial damage in the large intestine (2).	<i>E. coli:</i> No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (4) <i>C. difficle</i> (1)	Kobuvirus
	Mild mesocolonic oedema (3) Mild to moderate dilation of small and/or large intestine (4) with moderate hyperaemia of the small intestine (1/4) Only mild hyperaemia of the small intestine (1)	Small intestinal colonisation by enteroadherent cocci accompanied by superficial epithelial damage (1) or severe damage and extensive infiltration of neutrophils (1) Extensive infiltration of neutrophils in the ileum despite intact epithelium (2)	<i>E. coli</i> : No diarrhoeagenic virotypes detected <i>C. perfringens</i> type A (4) <i>C. difficle</i> (2)	No mammalian viruses detected

negative for C. difficile on direct culture. 2. Virus genera detected on nucleotide level and confirmed on protein level

#### 4.2.1 Enteroadherent Enterococcus hirae

By FISH analysis, the enteroadherent Gram-positive cocci were identified as Enterococcus spp. in all 18 colonised animals (paper IV). Moreover, selective culture of intestinal samples for enterococci demonstrated a higher proportion of E. hirae in diarrhoeic piglets than in the controls (P=0.01). The species identification by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry was confirmed by PCR and the identification of E. hirae also agreed with the 16S rRNA gene analysis of colonised intestinal tissue. Taken together these results suggested E. hirae as the colonising agent in the investigated animals. This finding was rather unexpected as E. hirae is not a previously well-established cause of NPD. Prior to the present study, enteroadherent enterococci associated with NPD had only been described in single case reports. In these cases, the colonising agent was identified as E. durans (Gin, 2010; Cheon & Chae, 1996; Drolet R., 1990; Johnson, 1984). More recently, a number of *E. durans* isolates from pigs have further been re-classified to the species E. villorum (De Graef et al., 2003; Vancanneyt et al., 2001) and it is hence possible that NPD can be associated with any of the closely related species E. durans/hirae/villorum. However, these species are difficult to distinguish biochemically and thus, an association between E. durans and NPD remains to be confirmed by genotypic methods.

The pathogenesis of diarrhoea associated with enteroadherent enterococci is unknown. In the 1980s, the condition was experimentally reproduced in gnotobiotic piglets (Johnson, 1984; Tzipori et al., 1984). No enterotoxin production could be demonstrated and a malabsorptive mechanism was suggested. Although epithelial lesions in the small intestine has been previously reported in association with enteroadherent enterococci (Nicklas et al., 2010; Johnson, 1984), further investigations on the ability of E. hirae to induce cellular damage have, to the best of the author's knowledge, not been performed. The results from study IV suggest that apoptosis could be involved in the increased loss of epithelial cells. However, apoptosis of jejunal cells may also be related to rotavirus infection (Boshuizen et al., 2003) and one of the animals displaying apoptotic enterocytes confirmed by immunolabelling of activated caspase-3 was indeed from herd B. However, similar epithelial lesions were also present in diarrhoeic animals from other herds (paper III). Thus, further studies on the association of E. hirae and apoptosis are warranted, preferably by comparing the rate of apoptosis in infected and noninfected animals in an experimental setting, to definitely rule out the presence of other potential pathogens.

The investigation by TEM demonstrated hair-like filaments radiating from the surface of the bacteria towards the microvillus brush border. These protruding filaments, consistent with fimbriae, have been proposed to mediate

the epithelial adhesion (Nicklas *et al.*, 2010; Rogers *et al.*, 1992; Collins *et al.*, 1988; Johnson, 1984; Tzipori *et al.*, 1984). Interestingly, *E. faecium* and *E. faecalis* that are considered important nosocomial pathogens in human medicine, display a number of virulence properties associated with the ability to adhere and colonize different surfaces (Arias & Murray, 2012). However, the presence of virulence genes similar to those described for *E. faecalis* and *E. faecium* have hitherto not been investigated in enteroadherent *E. hirae* isolated from neonatal animals with diarrhoea.

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing has previously not been performed for *E. hirae* associated with NPD. Decreased susceptibility to ciprofloxacin was indicated for *E. hirae* from herd H (designated herd D in paper III) which notably was the only herd routinely using fluoroquinolones for treatment of piglet diarrhoea. None of the other isolates showed decreased susceptibility to the antimicrobials tested.

A similar diarrhoeic condition in newborn piglets has recently been investigated in four Danish herds (Kongsted *et al.*, 2013). Interestingly, enteroadherent enterococci were demonstrated in 27% of the diarrhoeic piglets (n=51) compared with 2% of the healthy controls (n=50) (Jonach *et al.*, 2014). The species was not identified but subsequent characterisation of the intestinal microbiota in the same piglets showed an abundance of the genus *Enterococcus*, and *E. hirae* in particular (Hermann-Bank *et al.*, 2015). Similar to the present work, colonisation was found to be associated with small intestinal mucosal lesions including villous atrophy and epithelial damage (Jonach *et al.*, 2014). However, in these studies, enterococcal colonisation was observed simultaneously with adherent non-ETEC *E. coli* and it was suggested that the lesions may be primarily associated with the latter. This was however not supported in the present study (paper II).

Further, an abstract by Gin *et al.* (2010) describe NPD in eight French high performance herds that was not related to classical enteropathogens. Instead, *E. durans* was reported as the aetiology in three of the herds (in one herd together with *C. difficile*) and suggested as a 'new' pathogen associated with NPD.

The similarities of the present work with studies on piglet diarrhoea in Denmark and France are intriguing and may reflect a shift in the relative importance of the enteropathogens involved in NPD (Hermann-Bank *et al.*, 2015; Jonach *et al.*, 2014; Kongsted *et al.*, 2013; Gin, 2010). However, the ten herds investigated in the present study may not be representative for all Swedish herds experiencing problems with NPD. Thus, extended studies on the prevalence of enteropathogens related to NPD including enteroadherent enterococci are warranted.

#### 4.2.2 Other causes?

In four herds (A, D, E and G) no definite aetiological cause was determined, although ETEC was detected in two single cases. Incomplete diagnosis of NPD is however not uncommon (Lippke *et al.*, 2011; Yaeger *et al.*, 2002; Wieler *et al.*, 2001; Johnson *et al.*, 1992) and was noted in Scandinavian studies already in the 1970s (Söderlind, 1978; Svendsen *et al.*, 1975).

Possible explanations for the failure to detect an infectious cause could be that pathogenic organisms were present but not detected, or that the diarrhoea was non-infectious. Suggested non-infectious causes of diarrhoea in suckling newborn piglets includes overfeeding, starvation, antibiotic-associated diarrhoea (Goillandeau, 2006), and speculations on the presence of mycotoxins in sow feed (see section 1.4.4). None of these seem plausible considering the large number of animals affected, the presence of milk filled stomachs in all diarrhoeic piglets at necropsy, and the absence of piglet antimicrobial treatments and overt signs of disease in the sows. Moreover, NNPD in Denmark was demonstrated to be infectious by the reproduction of disease in healthy piglets inoculated with intestinal content and tissue from NNPD-piglets (Jonach, 2014).

It has also been suggested that diarrhoea in piglets <1 day old could be considered normal (Kongsted *et al.*, 2014a). This assumption was based on the observation that piglets only diarrhoeic on the first day of life did not show a decreased ADG compared to non-diarrhoeic piglets. However, the biological reason for this distinction was not discussed and further examinations subsequently showed that diarrhoea on the day of birth was a risk factor for having diarrhoea on the second to fifth day of life (Kongsted *et al.*, 2014b). An interpretation of these results may be that some piglets that are diarrhoeic already at the day of birth are mildly affected and recover quickly.

Although all piglets were sampled in the acute phase of the disease and immediately after death to ensure a high quality of the samples, the possibility that a potential infectious cause of the diarrhoea was overlooked cannot be excluded:

Bacteriological investigations focused on agents previously associated with NPD and subsequently, on the results from histopathology. The rationale for this strategy was that adherence and colonisation of the intestinal mucosa is considered a key step in the pathogenesis of bacterial enteric infections (Lu & Walker, 2001). Although samples for histopathology was collected from multiple sites of the intestine (n=7) and approximately three sections (of 4  $\mu$ m each) were examined per site, this does not exclude the presence of localised lesions or bacterial colonisation in parts of the intestine that was not examined. One may speculate that pathological changes and/or bacterial adherence to the

intestinal epithelium may be less widespread in early stages of disease. This might explain the lack of specific findings among the youngest piglets and it would hence have been interesting to examine a larger number of two-day-old diarrhoeic piglets from some of the herds. However, that approach would also have increased the risk for secondary infections that may have concealed the primary cause. Furthermore, some intracellular bacteria may not be visible by light microscopy. However, all piglets (n=30) investigated for *Chlamydia* spp. by immunostaining were negative and no other intracellular bacteria have, to the best of the authors' knowledge, previously been associated with NPD.

In addition, the viral metagenomics analyses are capable of detecting any previously described mammalian viruses present in a sample. However, although unlikely, the presence of novel viruses, genetically highly dissimilar to previously described viruses, cannot be ruled out.

# 5 Concluding remarks and future perspectives

Taken together, the results presented in this thesis demonstrate that diarrhoea in newborn piglets in Sweden may have other causes than the well-established enteropathogens previously associated with NPD. Thus, the initial hypothesis of the project could not be rejected.

Our results show that:

- NPD is common in Swedish piglet-producing herds and many herds experience recurrent problems despite maternal vaccination against ETEC.
- The gross pathological lesions associated with diarrhoea were mild and unspecific in all of the investigated herds. On histopathology, small intestinal colonisation by enterodherent cocci accompanied by mild mucosal lesions was the only consistent finding among diarrhoeic piglets.
- Enterococcus hirae was implicated as the colonising agent. Colonisation by enteroadherent *E. hirae* was only detected in diarrhoeic piglets and was present in piglets originating from six of the ten investigated herds, suggesting that this bacterium is involved in the disease.
- Bacteriological enteropathogens previously associated with piglet diarrhoea, a deficient passive immune status of the piglets, or obvious short-comings in important environmental factors were generally not related to diarrhoea in the investigated herds.
- A number of viral families were present in both healthy and diarrhoeic piglets but the only previously well-established porcine enteropathogen found was rotavirus, which was detected in two herds only. Overall, a major contribution of previously known viruses was not indicated.

As so often is the case, the new knowledge obtained has also generated new questions:

To establish a potential, causative role of *E. hirae* in the aetiology of NPD, Koch's postulates needs to be fulfilled by experimental challenge studies with *E. hirae* strains isolated from diarrhoeic piglets. This would not only shed light on the role of *E. hirae* as a potential pathogen but an appropriate challenge model would also allow for investigations of host-pathogen interactions and evaluation of treatment strategies.

It would also be interesting to investigate the presence of *E. hirae* among healthy neonatal piglets from herds without NPD. *E. hirae* has been described as a normal part of the intestinal microbiota in older pigs (Leser *et al.*, 2002) but information on the composition of the enterococcal flora in healthy newborn pigs is lacking.

Furthermore, potential virulence properties of enteroadherent *E. hirae* associated with NPD need to be examined and compared with *E. hirae* isolated from healthy, non-diarrhoeic animals. As a first step, virulence determinants previously described for *E. faecium* and *E. faecalis* could be examined. This would add information on the pathogenic potential of this organism and in addition reveal if it is possible to distinguish *E. hirae* strains associated with diarrhoea from those present in the normal intestinal microbiota.

A method to diagnose the condition in live piglets should also be developed.

In four herds, the aetiology of NPD was not established. This underlines the complexity of this problem and warrants further studies on potential additional factors or agents contributing to the disease.

Finally, to investigate the relative importance of different enteropathogens associated with NPD, prevalence studies on randomly selected herds are needed.

# 6 Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Diarré hos nyfödda grisar är ett vanligt problem i grisuppfödning världen över och kan orsakas av en rad olika bakterier, virus och parasiter. Många av dessa smittor går att minska genom att planera produktionen så att grisningsmiljön kan rengöras och desinficeras mellan grisningarna. Dessutom kan vissa infektioner förebyggas genom vaccination av suggan innan grisning, så att spädgrisarna får ett skydd via råmjölken. Trots dessa rutinmässiga åtgärder har man på senare år upplevt en ökning av spädgrisdiarré i många besättningar. Studierna i den här avhandlingen syftar till att beskriva problemet och undersöka möjliga bakomliggande orsaker.

För att uppskatta hur vanligt spädgrisdiarré är i svenska besättningar genomfördes en enkätstudie som innefattade 170 slumpmässigt utvalda besättningar. Av de 58 % som svarade, angav ~80 % att de hade haft spädgrisdiarré i sin besättning under föregående år. Undersökningen visade även att diarré var vanligare i större besättningar. Majoriteten av besättningarna vaccinerade mot kända, sjukdomsframkallande kolibakterier, som anses vara den vanligaste orsaken till spädgrisdiarré. Trots vaccinering så uppgav 40 % att man hade återkommande fall av spädgrisdiarré.

För att utreda orsaken till diarrén gjordes omfattande provtagningar i tio utvalda besättningar. Från varje besättning undersöktes fem grisar med diarré och två friska kontrollgrisar. Grisarna obducerades och en rad prover togs för att undersöka sjukliga förändringar i tarmen samt förekomst av olika infektionsämnen. Dessutom analyserades koncentrationen antikroppar i blodet för att undersöka om grisarna fått i sig tillräckligt mycket råmjölk.

Det var ingen skillnad i antikroppskoncentration mellan sjuka och friska grisar. Sjukliga förändringar i tarmarna var generellt milda och inga parasiter kunde ses i tarmslemhinnan. De bakteriologiska undersökningarna visade på en låg förekomst av sjukdomsframkallande kolibakterier. Den mer ovanliga bakterien *Clostridium perfringens* typ C, som orsakar smittsam tarmbrand,

kunde inte påvisas. Två andra bakterier som diskuterats som orsak till spädgrisdiarré (*Clostridium perfringens* typ A och *Clostridium difficile*) hittades hos både sjuka och friska grisar och det fanns ingen koppling mellan förekomst av dessa bakterier och diarré.

Närvaro av virus i tarmen undersöktes med en ny metodik, så kallad viral metagenomik, som tillåter en bred screening av olika virus i ett prov. Med denna metod påvisades rotavirus i två av besättningarna. Rotavirus är vanligt förekommande hos svenska grisar men orsakar sällan diarré hos nyfödda spädgrisar eftersom de är skyddade via antikroppar i råmjölken. I övrigt kunde inget annat virus kopplas till diarrén.

Det enda gemensamma fyndet hos grisar med diarré var att tunntarmsslemhinnan hos 60 % av de sjuka spädgrisarna i sex av besättningarna var koloniserad med en bakterie som kallas *Enterococcus (E.) hirae*. I drygt hälften av fallen sågs även lindriga skador i tarmslemhinnan. Fyndet var överraskande då *E. hirae* inte tillhör de bakterier som vanligen förknippas med spädgrisdiarré.

Sammantaget visar det här projektet att spädgrisdiarré är ett vanligt problem och att det inte alltid orsakas av de smittämnen som tidigare förknippats med sjukdomen. Däremot hittades ett samband mellan diarré och tunntarmskolonisation av bakterien *E. hirae* i merparten av besättningarna. Fyndet är intressant och betydelsen av *E. hirae* som potentiell orsak till diarré hos nyfödda grisar bör undersökas vidare.

# References

- Abid, H., Holscher, M. & Byerly, C. (1984). An outbreak of adenovirus enteritis in piglets. *Veterinary Medicine and Small Animal Clinician: VM/SAC*, 79, pp. 105-107.
- Alexander, T. (1981). Piglet diarrhoea: A guide to diagnosis and control. *British Veterinary Journal*, 137(6), pp. 651-662.
- Alexander, T.J.L. (1994). Neonatal diarrhoea in pigs. In: Gyles, C.L. (Ed.) *Escherichia coli in domestic animals and humans*. Wallingford: CAB International, pp. 151-170.
- Allander, T., Emerson, S.U., Engle, R.E., Purcell, R.H. & Bukh, J. (2001). A virus discovery method incorporating DNase treatment and its application to the identification of two bovine parvovirus species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(20), pp. 11609-11614.
- An, D.-J., Jeoung, H.-Y., Jeong, W., Lee, H.S., Park, J.-Y. & Kim, B. (2011). Porcine kobuvirus from pig stool in Korea. *Virus Genes*, 42(2), pp. 208-211.
- An, H., Fairbrother, J.M., Desautels, C. & Harel, J. (1999). Distribution of a novel locus called Paa (porcine attaching and effacing associated) among enteric Escherichia coli. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 473, pp. 179-84.
- An, H., Fairbrother, J.M., Désautels, C., Mabrouk, T., Dugourd, D., Dezfulian, H. & Harel, J. (2000). Presence of the LEE (locus of enterocyte effacement) in pig attaching and effacing Escherichia coli and characterization of eae, espA, espB and espD genes of PEPEC (pig EPEC) strain 1390. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 28(5), pp. 291-300.
- Arbuckle, J. (1972). The attachment of Clostridium welchii (Cl. perfringens) type C to intestinal villi of pigs. *The Journal of Pathology*, 106(2), pp. 65-72.
- Arias, C.A. & Murray, B.E. (2012). The rise of the Enterococcus: beyond vancomycin resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 10(4), pp. 266-278.
- Asch, D.A., Jedrziewski, M.K. & Christakis, N.A. (1997). Response rates to mail surveys published in medical journals. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 50(10), pp. 1129-1136.
- Authie, E., Botner, A., Browman, H., De Koeijer, A., Depner, K., Domingo, M., Ducrot, C., Edwards, S., Fourichon, C. & Koenen, F. (2014). Scientific Opinion on porcine epidemic diarrhoea and emerging pig deltacoronavirus. *EFSA Journal*, 12(10), p. 3877.
- Ball, J.M., Tian, P., Zeng, C.Q., Morris, A.P. & Estes, M.K. (1996). Age-dependent diarrhea induced by a rotaviral nonstructural glycoprotein. *Science*, 272(5258), pp. 101-104.

- Batisson, I., Guimond, M.-P., Girard, F., An, H., Zhu, C., Oswald, E., Fairbrother, J.M., Jacques, M. & Harel, J. (2003). Characterization of the novel factor paa involved in the early steps of the adhesion mechanism of attaching and effacing Escherichia coli. *Infection and Immunity*, 71(8), pp. 4516-4525.
- Benfield, D.A., Hesse, R. A. (2012). Porcine adenoviruses. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine*, 10th Edition. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 392-395.
- Benz, I. & Schmidt, M.A. (1989). Cloning and expression of an adhesin (AIDA-I) involved in diffuse adherence of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli. *Infection and Immunity*, 57(5), pp. 1506-1511.
- Blecha, F. & Kelley, K.W. (1981). Cold stress reduces the acquisition of colostral immunoglobulin in piglets. *Journal of Animal Science*, 52(3), pp. 594-600.
- Blomström, A.-L. (2011). Viral metagenomics as an emerging and powerful tool in veterinary medicine. *Veterinary Quarterly*, 31(3), pp. 107-114.
- Boerlin, P., Travis, R., Gyles, C.L., Reid-Smith, R., Lim, N.J.H., Nicholson, V., McEwen, S.A., Friendship, R. & Archambault, M. (2005). Antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes of Escherichia coli isolates from swine in Ontario. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(11), pp. 6753-6761.
- Bohl, E.H., Kohler, E.M., Saif, L.J., Cross, R.F., Agnes, A.G. & Theil, K.W. (1978). Rotavirus as a cause of diarrhea in pigs. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 172(4), pp. 458-463.
- Boniotti, M.B., Papetti, A., Lavazza, A., Alborali, G., Sozzi, E., Chiapponi, C., Faccini, S., Bonilauri, P., Cordioli, P. & Marthaler, D. (2016). Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea Virus and Discovery of a Recombinant Swine Enteric Coronavirus, Italy. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 22(1), pp. 83-87.
- Boshuizen, J.A., Reimerink, J.H., Korteland-van Male, A.M., van Ham, V.J., Koopmans, M.P., Büller, H.A., Dekker, J. & Einerhand, A.W. (2003). Changes in small intestinal homeostasis, morphology, and gene expression during rotavirus infection of infant mice. *Journal of Virology*, 77(24), pp. 13005-13016.
- Bowman, G.L., Ott, S.L. & Bush, E.J. (1996). Management effects on preweaning mortality: A report of the NAHMS National Swine Survey. *Swine Health and Production*, 4, pp. 25-32.
- Bridger, J. (1980). Detection by electron microscopy of caliciviruses, astroviruses and rotaviruslike particles in the faeces of piglets with diarrhoea. *Veterinary Record*, 107(23), pp. 532-533.
- Brown, C.C., Baker, D.C., Barker, I.K. (2007a). Alimentary system. In: Grant Maxie, M. (Ed.) Jubb, Kennedy, and Palmer's pathology of domestic animals, Volume 2. 5th. ed. Philadelphia: Elsvier Saunders, pp. 81-82.
- Brown, C.C., Baker, D.C., Barker, I.K. (2007b). Alimentary system. In: Grant Maxie, M. (Ed.) Jubb, Kennedy, and Palmer's pathology of domestic animals, Volume 2. 5th. ed. Philadelphia: Elsvier Saunders, pp. 128-131.
- Brown, C.C., Baker, D.C., Barker, I.K. (2007c). Alimentary system. In: Grant Maxie, M. (Ed.) Jubb, Kennedy, and Palmer's pathology of domestic animals, Volume 2. 5th. ed. Philadelphia: Elsvier Saunders, pp. 240-241.

- Brown, D.C., Maxwell, C.V., Erf, G.F., Davis, M.E., Singh, S. & Johnson, Z.B. (2006). Ontogeny of T lymphocytes and intestinal morphological characteristics in neonatal pigs at different ages in the postnatal period. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84(3), pp. 567-578.
- Buchfink, B., Xie, C. & Huson, D.H. (2015). Fast and sensitive protein alignment using DIAMOND. *Nature Methods*, 12(1), pp. 59-60.
- Bueschel, D.M., Jost, B.H., Billington, S.J., Trinh, H.T. & Songer, J.G. (2003). Prevalence of cpb2, encoding beta2 toxin, in Clostridium perfringens field isolates: correlation of genotype with phenotype. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 94(2), pp. 121-129.
- Buogo, C., Capaul, S., Häni, H., Frey, J. & Nicolet, J. (1995). Diagnosis of Clostridium perfringens type C enteritis in pigs using a DNA amplification technique (PCR). *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin Reihe B*, 42(1-10), pp. 51-58.
- Burgess, M., Bywater, R., Cowley, C., Mullan, N. & Newsome, P. (1978). Biological evaluation of a methanol-soluble, heat-stable Escherichia coli enterotoxin in infant mice, pigs, rabbits, and calves. *Infection and Immunity*, 21(2), pp. 526-531.
- Butler, D., Gali, D., Kelly, M. & Hamilton, J. (1974). Transmissible Gastroenteritis mechanisms responsible for diarrhea in an acute viral enteritis in piglets *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 53(5), pp. 1335-1342.
- Bäckhed, F., Roswall, J., Peng, Y., Feng, Q., Jia, H., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., Li, Y., Xia, Y., Xie, H. & Zhong, H. (2015). Dynamics and Stabilization of the Human Gut Microbiome during the First Year of Life. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 17(5), pp. 690-703.
- Carlson, S.A., Barnhill, A. E., Griffith, R. W. (2012). Salmonellosis. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine*, *10th Edition*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Carlsson, L.C., Weström, B.R. & Karlsson, B.W. (1980). Intestinal absorption of proteins by the neonatal piglet fed on sow's colostrum with either natural or experimentally eliminated trypsin-inhibiting activity. *Biology of the Neonate*, 38(5-6), pp. 309-320.
- Carvajal, A., Argüello, H., Martínez-Lobo, F.J., Costillas, S., Miranda, R., de Nova, P.J. & Rubio, P. (2015). Porcine epidemic diarrhoea: new insights into an old disease. *Porcine Health Management*, 1(1), pp. 1-8.
- Chan, G., Farzan, A., Soltes, G., Nicholson, V.M., Pei, Y., Friendship, R. & Prescott, J.F. (2012). The epidemiology of Clostridium perfringens type A on Ontario swine farms, with special reference to cpb2-positive isolates. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 8(1), p. 156.
- Chang, K.-O., Saif, L., Kim, Y. (2012). Reoviruses (Rotaviruses and Reoviruses) In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine, 10th Edition*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Chasey, D., Bridger, J. & McCrae, M. (1986). A new type of atypical rotavirus in pigs. Archives of virology, 89(1-4), pp. 235-243.
- Chasey, D. & Cartwright, S.F. (1978). Virus-like particles associated with porcine epidemic diarrhoea. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 25(2), pp. 255-256.
- Cheon, D.S. & Chae, C.H. (1996). Outbreak of diarrhea associated with Enterococcus durans in piglets. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 8(1), pp. 123-124.
- Choi, C., Kwon, D. & Chae, C. (2001). Prevalence of the enteroaggregative Escherichia coli heatstable enterotoxin 1 gene and its relationship with fimbrial and enterotoxin genes in E. coli

isolated from diarrheic piglets. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 13(1), pp. 26-29.

- Chu, R., Glock, R., Ross, R. & Cox, D. (1979). Lymphoid tissues of the small intestine of swine from birth to one month of age. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 40(12), pp. 1713-1719.
- Clarke, R.M., Hardy, R.N. (1971). Histological changes in the small intestine of the young pig and their relation to macromolecular uptake. *Journal of Anatomy*, 108(Pt 1), pp. 63-77.
- Collins, J.E., Bergeland, M.E., Bouley, D., Ducommun, A.L., Francis, D.H. & Yeske, P. (1989). Diarrhea associated with Clostridium perfringens type A enterotoxin in neonatal pigs. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 1(4), pp. 351-353.
- Collins, J.E., Bergeland, M.E., Lindeman, C.J. & Duimstra, J.R. (1988). Enterococcus (Streptococcus) Durans Adherence in the Small-Intestine of a Diarrheic Pup. *Veterinary Pathology*, 25(5), pp. 396-398.
- Coussement, W., Ducatelle, R., Charlier, G. & Hoorens, J. (1981). Adenovirus enteritis in pigs. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 42(11), pp. 1905-1911.
- Cross, R.F. & Kohler, E.M. (1969). Autolytic changes in the digestive system of germfree, escherichia coli monocontaminated, and conventional baby pigs. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine*, 33(2), pp. 108-112.
- Cummings, S.M., Savitz, L.A. & Konrad, T.R. (2001). Reported response rates to mailed physician questionnaires. *Health Services Research*, 35(6), pp. 1347-1355.
- Curtis, J. & Bourne, F. (1971). Immunoglobulin quantitation in sow serum, colostrum and milk and the serum of young pigs. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure*, 236(1), pp. 319-332.
- Czanderlova, L., Hlozek, P., Chmelar, D. & Lany, P. (2006). Clostridium perfringens in suckling piglets with diarrhoea and its PCR typing and prevalence in the Czech Republic in 2001-2003. *Veterinarni Medicina*, 51(9), pp. 461-467.
- D'mello, J., Placinta, C. & Macdonald, A. (1999). Fusarium mycotoxins: a review of global implications for animal health, welfare and productivity. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 80(3), pp. 183-205.
- Dastjerdi, A., Carr, J., Ellis, R.J., Steinbach, F. & Williamson, S. (2015). Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea Virus among Farmed Pigs, Ukraine. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 21(12), p. 2235.
- De Graef, E.M., Devriese, L.A., Vancanneyt, M., Baele, M., Collins, M.D., Lefebvre, K., Swings, J. & Haesebrouck, F. (2003). Description of Enterococcus canis sp. nov. from dogs and reclassification of Enterococcus porcinus Teixeira et al. 2001 as a junior synonym of Enterococcus villorum Vancanneyt et al 2001. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 53(Pt 4), pp. 1069-1074.
- Dean, E.A., Whipp, S.C. & Moon, H.W. (1989). Age-specific colonization of porcine intestinal epithelium by 987P-piliated enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. *Infection and Immunity*, 57(1), pp. 82-87.
- Debouck, P. & Pensaert, M. (1980). Experimental infection of pigs with a new porcine enteric coronavirus, CV 777. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 41(2), pp. 219-223.
- Debouck, P. & Pensaert, M. (1983). Rotavirus excretion in suckling pigs followed under field circumstances. Annals of Veterinary Research, 14(4), pp. 447-8.
- 72
Delwart, E.L. (2007). Viral metagenomics. Reviews in medical virology, 17(2), pp. 115-131.

- Dewey, C.E., Wittum, T.E., Hurd, H.S., Dargatz, D. & Hill, G.W. (1995). Herd-and litter-level factors associated with the incidence of diarrhea morbidity and mortality in piglets 4–14 days of age. *Swine Health and Production*, 3(3), pp. 105-112.
- Devriese, L.A., Vandamme, P., Pot, B., Vanrobaeys, M., Kersters, K. & Haesebrouck, F. (1998). Differentiation between Streptococcus gallolyticus strains of human clinical and veterinary origins and Streptococcus bovis strains from the intestinal tracts of ruminants. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 36(12), pp. 3520-3523.
- Di Bartolo, I., Angeloni, G., Tofani, S., Monini, M. & Ruggeri, F.M. (2015). Infection of farmed pigs with porcine kobuviruses in Italy. *Archives of Virology*, 160(6), pp. 1533-1536.
- Drew, M. & Owen, B. (1988). The provision of passive immunity to colostrum-deprived piglets by bovine or porcine serum immunoglobulins. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 68(4), pp. 1277-1284.
- Drolet R., H.R., Jacques M. (1990). L'entéropathie associée à enterococcus (streptococcus) durans chez le porcelet. *Le Médecin Vétérinaire du Québec*, 20(3), pp. 114-115, 118.
- Duan, W.R., Garner, D.S., Williams, S.D., Funckes-Shippy, C.L., Spath, I.S. & Blomme, E.A.G. (2003). Comparison of immunohistochemistry for activated caspase-3 and cleaved cytokeratin 18 with the TUNEL method for quantification of apoptosis in histological sections of PC-3 subcutaneous xenografts. *Journal of Pathology*, 199(2), pp. 221-228.
- Ducatelle, R., Coussement, W. & Hoorens, J. (1982). Sequential pathological study of experimental porcine adenovirus enteritis. *Veterinary Pathology*, 19(2), pp. 179-189.
- Enemark, H.L., Ahrens, P., Bille-Hansen, V., Heegaard, P.M., Vigre, H., Thamsborg, S.M. & Lind, P. (2003). Cryptosporidium parvum: infectivity and pathogenicity of the 'porcine' genotype. *Parasitology*, 126(Pt 5), pp. 407-416.
- Englund, S., af Segerstad, C.H., Arnlund, F., Westergren, E. & Jacobson, M. (2012). The occurrence of Chlamydia spp. in pigs with and without clinical disease. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 8(1), p. 9.
- Engström, B., Fermer, C., Lindberg, A., Saarinen, E., Båverud, V. & Gunnarsson, A. (2003). Molecular typing of isolates of Clostridium perfringens from healthy and diseased poultry. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 94(3), pp. 225-235.
- Eriksson, E., Melin, L., Larsson, J., Nörregård, E., Wallgren, P., Aspán, A. Neonatal piglet diarrhoea in association with presence of STb and STb:EAST1 AIDA-I positive isolates of E. coli. In: *Proceedings of 22nd International Pig Veterinary Society Congress (IPVS)*, Jeju, South Korea, 2012, p. 640.
- Estrada, C.A. & Taylor, D. (1989). Porcine Clostridium perfringens type A spores, enterotoxin and antibody to enterotoxin. *The Veterinary Record*, 124(23), pp. 606-610.
- Etheridge, M.E., Yolken, R.H. & Vonderfecht, S.L. (1988). Enterococcus-Hirae Implicated as a Cause of Diarrhea in Suckling Rats. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 26(9), pp. 1741-1744.
- Eustis, S.L. & Nelson, D.T. (1981). Lesions Associated with Coccidiosis in Nursing Piglets. Veterinary Pathology, 18(1), pp. 21-28.
- Evans, A.S. (1976). Causation and disease: the Henle-Koch postulates revisited. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 49(2), pp. 175-195.
  - 73

- Fairbrother, J.M., Gyles C.L. (2012). Colibacillosis. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine*. 10th. ed. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 723-749.
- Falkow, S. (1988). Molecular Koch's postulates applied to microbial pathogenicity. *Review of Infectious Diseases*, 10(Supplement 2), pp. S274-S276.
- Farm and Animal Health (2014). Medeltal suggor 2014. Sweden: Farm and Animal Health. Available from: http://www.gardochdjurhalsan.se/sv/winpig/medeltal-och-topplistor/medeltalsuggor/ [2015-11-16].
- Farzan, A., Kircanski, J., DeLay, J., Soltes, G., Songer, J.G., Friendship, R., Prescott, J.F. (2013). An investigation into the association between cpb2-encoding Clostridium perfringens type A and diarrhea in neonatal piglets. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 77(1), pp. 45-53.
- Field, H. & Gibson, E. (1955). Studies on piglet mortality. 2: Clostridium welchii infection. Veterinary Record, 67, pp. 31-34.
- Flynn, W., Saif, L. & Moorhead, P. (1988). Pathogenesis of porcine enteric calicivirus-like virus in four-day-old gnotobiotic pigs. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 49(6), pp. 819-825.
- Frenyo, V., Pethes, G., Antal, T. & Szabo, I. (1980). Changes in colostral and serum IgG content in swine in relation to time. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 4(1), pp. 275-282.
- Fu, Z.F., Hampson, D.J. & Wilks, C.R. (1990). Transfer of maternal antibody against group A rotavirus from sows to piglets and serological responses following natural infection. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 48(3), pp. 365-373.
- Gancarčíková, S. (2012). Differences in the development of the small intestine between gnotobiotic and conventionally bred piglets. In: Brzozowski, T. (Ed.) *New advances in the basic and clinical gastroenterology*. Rijeka: InTech, p. 393.
- Garmory, H., Chanter, N., French, N., Bueschel, D., Songer, J. & Titball, R. (2000). Occurrence of Clostridium perfringens β2-toxin amongst animals, determined using genotyping and subtyping PCR assays. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 124(1), pp. 61-67.
- Gaskins, H.R., Kelly, K.W. (1995). Immunology and neonatal mortality. In: Varley, M.A. (Ed.) The neonatal pig development and survival. Wallingford: CAB International, pp. 39-55.
- Gelberg, H. (1992). Studies on the age resistance of swine to group A rotavirus infection. *Veterinary Pathology*, 29(2), pp. 161-168.
- Gin, T., Le Guennec, J., Morvan, H., Martineau, G-P. Clinical and laboratory investigations in 10 French pig herds dealing with enzootic neonatal diarrhoea. In: *Proceedings of 21st International Pig Veterinary Society Congress*, Vancouver, Canada, 2010, p. 758.
- Goillandeau, R., Vila, T., Martineau, G.P. Neonatal diarrheas: A paradigmatic change. In: Proceedings of 19st International Pig Veterinary Society Congress, Copenhagen, Denmark, 2006, p. 144.
- Gordon, D.M. & Cowling, A. (2003). The distribution and genetic structure of Escherichia coli in Australian vertebrates: host and geographic effects. *Microbiology*, 149(12), pp. 3575-3586.
- Graham, D.Y., Sackman, J.W. & Estes, M.K. (1984). Pathogenesis of rotavirus-induced diarrhea. Preliminary studies in miniature swine piglet. *Digestive Diseases Sciences*, 29(11), pp. 1028-1035.
- 74

- Grasland, B., Bigault, L., Bernard, C., Quenault, H., Toulouse, O., Fablet, C., Rose, N., Touzain, F. & Blanchard, Y. (2015). Complete genome sequence of a porcine epidemic diarrhea S gene indel strain isolated in France in December 2014. *Genome Announcements*, 3(3), pp. e00535-15.
- Grassme, H., Jendrossek, V. & Gulbins, E. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of bacteria induced apoptosis. *Apoptosis*, 6(6), pp. 441-445.
- Greninger, A.L., Chen, E.C., Sittler, T., Scheinerman, A., Roubinian, N., Yu, G., Kim, E., Pillai, D.R., Guyard, C. & Mazzulli, T. (2010). A metagenomic analysis of pandemic influenza A (2009 H1N1) infection in patients from North America. *PLoS One*, 5(10), p. e13381.
- Greve, J.H. (2012). Internal parasites: helminths. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine*, 10th Edition. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 908-920.
- Guo, M., Hayes, J., Cho, K., Parwani, A., Lucas, L. & Saif, L. (2001). Comparative pathogenesis of tissue culture-adapted and wild-type Cowden porcine enteric calicivirus (PEC) in gnotobiotic pigs and induction of diarrhea by intravenous inoculation of wild-type PEC. *Journal of Virology*, 75(19), pp. 9239-9251.
- Guscetti, F., Schiller, I., Sydler, T., Heinen, E. & Pospischil, A. (2009). Experimental enteric infection of gnotobiotic piglets with Chlamydia suis strain S45. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 135(1), pp. 157-168.
- Gyles, C.L. (1994). Escherichia coli enterotoxins. In: Gyles, C.L. (Ed.) Escherichia coli in domestic animals and humans. Wallingford: CAB International, pp. 337-364.
- Haelterman, E. & Hutchings, L. (1956). Epidemic diarrheal disease of viral origin in newborn swine. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 66(1), pp. 186-190.
- Halgaard, C. (1980). Epidemiologic factors in piglet diarrhea. *Nordisk Veterinärmedicin*, 33(9-11), pp. 403-412.
- Hamnes, I.S., Gjerde, B.K., Forberg, T. & Robertson, L.J. (2007). Occurrence of Cryptosporidium and Giardia in suckling piglets in Norway. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 144(3), pp. 222-233.
- Hanke, D., Jenckel, M., Petrov, A., Ritzmann, M., Stadler, J., Akimkin, V., Blome, S., Pohlmann, A., Schirrmeier, H. & Beer, M. (2015). Comparison of porcine epidemic diarrhea viruses from Germany and the United States, 2014. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 21(3), pp. 493-496.
- Haugegaard, J. (2010). Prevalence of nematodes in Danish industrialized sow farms with loose housed sows in dynamic groups. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 168(1), pp. 156-159.
- Helie, P. & Higgins, R. (1999). Diarrhea associated with Enterococcus faecium in an adult cat. *Journal of veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 11(5), pp. 457-458.
- Helie, P., Morin, M., Jacques, M. & Fairbrother, J. (1991). Experimental infection of newborn pigs with an attaching and effacing Escherichia coli O45: K" E65" strain. *Infection and Immunity*, 59(3), pp. 814-821.
- Hermann-Bank, M.L. (2014). *Characterization of the bacterial gut microbiota in new neonatal porcine diarrhoea*. Diss. Copenhagen: Technical University of Denmark.
- Hermann-Bank, M.L., Skovgaard, K., Stockmarr, A., Strube, M.L., Larsen, N., Kongsted, H., Ingerslev, H.-C., Mølbak, L. & Boye, M. (2015). Characterization of the bacterial gut

microbiota of piglets suffering from new neonatal porcine diarrhoea. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 11(1), p. 1.

- Herpin, P., Damon, M. & Le Dividich, J. (2002). Development of thermoregulation and neonatal survival in pigs. *Livestock Production Science*, 78(1), pp. 25-45.
- Herpin, P., Le Dividich, J., Berthon, D. & Hulin, J.C. (1994). Assessment of thermoregulatory and postprandial thermogenesis over the first 24 hours after birth in pigs. *Experimental Physiology*, 79(6), pp. 1011-1019.
- Higgins, R., Pearson, G. & Wray, C. (1997). Attaching and Effacing E. coli. In: Prem S. P., F., D.H., Benfield, D.A. (Ed.) *Mechanisms in the Pathogenesis of Enteric Diseases* Springer, pp. 59-62.
- Hodges, K. & Gill, R. (2010). Infectious diarrhea: Cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Gut Microbes*, 1(1), pp. 4-21.
- Hogh, P. (1966). Necrotizing infectious enteritis in piglets, caused by Clostridium perfringens type C. II. Incidence and clinical features. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 8(4), pp. 301-323.
- Holmgren, N., Lindberg, M., Linder, A., Lundeheim, N., Segall, T. Piglet mortality caused by Clostridium perfringens type A. In: *Proceedings of 18th International Pig Veterinary Society Congress*, Hamburg, Germany, 2004, p. 260.
- Hooper, B. & Haelterman, E. (1969). Lesions of the gastrointestinal tract of pigs infected with transmissible gastroenteritis. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine*, 33(1), p. 29.
- Hopman, N., Keessen, E., Harmanus, C., Sanders, I., Van Leengoed, L., Kuijper, E. & Lipman, L. (2011). Acquisition of Clostridium difficile by piglets. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 149(1), pp. 186-192.
- Hurley, W. (2015). Composition of sow colostrum and milk. In: Farmer, C. (Ed.) *The gestating and lactating sow*. Wageningen: Wagening Academic, pp. 193-230.
- ICTV (2014). Virus Taxonomy: 2014 Release. EC 46, Montreal, Canada, July 2014: International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Available from: http://www.ictvonline.org/index.asp [2015-12-02].
- Indik, S., Valíček, L., Šmíd, B., Dvořáková, H. & Rodák, L. (2006). Isolation and partial characterization of a novel porcine astrovirus. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 117(2), pp. 276-283.
- Inoue, R., Tsukahara, T., Nakanishi, N. & Ushida, K. (2005). Development of the intestinal microbiota in the piglet. *Journal of General and Applied Microbiology*, 51(4), pp. 257-265.
- Janke, B.H., Francis, D.H., Collins, J.E., Libal, M.C., Zeman, D.H. & Johnson, D.D. (1989). Attaching and effacing Escherichia coli infections in calves, pigs, lambs, and dogs. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 1(1), pp. 6-11.
- Janke, B.H., Nelson, J.K., Benfield, D.A. & Nelson, E.A. (1990). Relative prevalence of typical and atypical strains among rotaviruses from diarrheic pigs in conventional swine herds. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 2(4), pp. 308-311.
- Janoir, C. (2015). Virulence factors of Clostridium difficile and their role during infection. *Anaerobe*, doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2015.10.009. [Epub ahead of print].
- Jensen, A.R., Elnif, J., Burrin, D.G. & Sangild, P.T. (2001). Development of intestinal immunoglobulin absorption and enzyme activities in neonatal pigs is diet dependent. *Journal* of Nutrition, 131(12), pp. 3259-3265.

<sup>76</sup> 

- Jensen, P.T. (1978). Trypsin inhibitor in sow colostrum and its function. *Annals of Veterinary Research*, 9(2), pp. 225-228.
- Johannsen, U., Arnold, P., Kohler, B. & Selbitz, H. (1993a). Untersuchungen zur experimentellen Clostridium-perfringens-Typ-A-Enterotoxämie der Saugferkel- Versuche zur experimentellen Erzeugung der Krankheit durch Clostridium-perfringens-Typ-A-Intoxikation und -Infektion. Versuchsansatz, klinisches Bild, Sektionsbefunde. *Monatshefte für Veterinärmedizin*, 48(3), pp. 129-136.
- Johannsen, U., Menger, S., Arnold, P., Kohler, B. & Selbitz, H. (1993b). Untersuchungen zur experimentellen Clostridium-perfringens-Typ A-Enterotoxämie der Saugferkel- Licht- und elektrorenmikroskopische Untersuchungen zur Pathologie und Pathogenese der experimentellen Clostridium-perfringens-Typ A-Infektion. *Monatshefte für Veterinärmedizin*, 48(6), pp. 299-306.
- Johansen, M., Alban, L., Kjærsgård, H.D. & Bækbo, P. (2004). Factors associated with suckling piglet average daily gain. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 63(1), pp. 91-102.
- Johnson, D.D. Enteric Streptococcus durans; an adhering streptococcus as a cause of diarrhea in suckling piglets? In: Proceedings of 25th George A. Young conference and 24th annual Nebraska SPF conference, Lincoln, Nebraska, 1984, pp. 1-8.
- Johnson, M., Fitzgerald, G., Welter, M. & Welter, C. (1992). The six most common pathogens responsible for diarrhea in newborn pigs. *Veterinary Medicine*, 87(4), pp. 382–386.
- Jonach, B. (2014). New neonatal porcine diarrhoea syndrome in Denmark- characterization of the intestinal lesions and identification of the etiology. Diss. Copenhagen: Technical University of Denmark.
- Jonach, B., Boye, M., Stockmarr, A. & Jensen, T.K. (2014). Fluorescence in situ hybridization investigation of potentially pathogenic bacteria involved in neonatal porcine diarrhea. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 10(1), p. 68.
- Jonach, B., Kokotovic, B., Kongsted, H., Boye, M., Jensen, T.K., Occurrence of clostridium perfringens type A and its toxins in neonatal piglets from four Danish pig farms In: *Proceedings of International Meeting on Emerging Diseases and Surveillance (IMED)* Vienna, Austria, 2013.
- Jung, K. & Saif, L.J. (2015). Porcine epidemic diarrhea virus infection: Etiology, epidemiology, pathogenesis and immunoprophylaxis. *The Veterinary Journal*, 204(2), pp. 134-143.
- Jäggi, M., Wollschlager, N., Abril, C., Albini, S., Brachelente, C., Wyder, M. & Posthaus, H. (2009). Retrospective study on necrotizing enteritis in piglets in Switzerland. *Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde*, 151(8), pp. 369-375.
- Kaper, J.B., Nataro, J.P. & Mobley, H.L. (2004). Pathogenic escherichia coli. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2(2), pp. 123-140.
- Karlsson, O.E., Belak, S. & Granberg, F. (2013). The effect of preprocessing by sequenceindependent, single-primer amplification (SISPA) on metagenomic detection of viruses. *Biosecurity and Bioterrorism: Biodefense Strategy, Practice, and Science*, 11(S1), pp. S227-S234.
- Katouli, M., Lund, A., Wallgren, P., Kuhn, I., Söderlind, O., Möllby, R. (1995). Phenotypic characterization of intestinal Escherichia coli of pigs during suckling, postweaning, and fattening periods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 61(2), pp. 778-783.

- Katsuda, K., Kohmoto, M., Kawashima, K. & Tsunemitsu, H. (2006). Frequency of enteropathogen detection in suckling and weaned pigs with diarrhea in Japan. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 18(4), pp. 350-354.
- Keel, M. & Songer, J. (2006). The comparative pathology of Clostridium difficile-associated disease. *Veterinary Pathology*, 43(3), pp. 225-240.
- Kelley, K.W., Blecha, F. & Regnier, J.A. (1982). Cold exposure and absorption of colostral immunoglobulins by neonatal pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 55(2), pp. 363-368.
- Kenworthy, R. (1970). Effect of Escherichia coli on germ-free and gnotobiotic pigs. I. Light and electron microscopy of the small intestine. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, 80(1), pp. 53-63.
- Khamrin, P., Maneekarn, N., Kongkaew, A., Kongkaew, S., Okitsu, S. & Ushijima, H. (2009). Porcine kobuvirus in piglets, Thailand. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 15(12), pp. 2075-2076.
- Kim, M., Ashida, H., Ogawa, M., Yoshikawa, Y., Mimuro, H. & Sasakawa, C. (2010). Bacterial interactions with the host epithelium. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 8(1), pp. 20-35.
- Kim, O. & Chae, C. (2000). In situ hybridization for the detection and localization of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in the intestinal tissues from naturally infected piglets. *Veterinary Pathology*, 37(1), pp. 62-67.
- Kim, Y.B., Bradley, S.G. & Watson, D.W. (1966). Ontogeny of the immune response. I. Development of immunoglobulins in germfree and conventional colostrum-deprived piglets. *The Journal of Immunology*, 97(1), pp. 52-63.
- Klaasen, H.L., Molkenboer, M.J., Bakker, J., Miserez, R., Häni, H., Frey, J., Popoff, M.R. & Bosch, J.F. (1999). Detection of the β2 toxin gene of Clostridium perfringens in diarrhoeic piglets in The Netherlands and Switzerland. *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, 24(3), pp. 325-332.
- Knowles, N.J., Reuter, G. (2012). Porcine caliciviruses. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine*, 10th Edition. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Kohler, E.M. & Bohl, E.H. (1966). Studies of Escherichia coli in gnotobiotic pigs. I. Experimental reproduction of colibacillosis. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine and Veterinary Science*, 30(7), pp. 199-203.
- Kongsted, H., Jonach, B., Haugegaard, S., Angen, Ø., Jorsal, S.E., Kokotovic, B., Larsen, L.E., Jensen, T.K. & Nielsen, J.P. (2013). Microbiological, pathological and histological findings in four Danish pig herds affected by a new neonatal diarrhoea syndrome. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 9(1), p. 206.
- Kongsted, H., Stege, H., Toft, N. & Nielsen, J.P. (2014a). The effect of New Neonatal Porcine Diarrhoea Syndrome (NNPDS) on average daily gain and mortality in 4 Danish pig herds. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 10(1), p. 90.
- Kongsted, H., Toft, N. & Nielsen, J.P. (2014b). Risk factors and epidemiological characteristics of new neonatal porcine diarrhoea syndrome in four Danish herds. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 10(1), p. 151.
- Konstantinov, S.R., Awati, A.A., Williams, B.A., Miller, B.G., Jones, P., Stokes, C.R., Akkermans, A.D.L., Smidt, H. & De Vos, W.M. (2006). Post-natal development of the

<sup>78</sup> 

porcine microbiota composition and activities. *Environmental Microbiology*, 8(7), pp. 1191-1199.

- Krause, G., Zimmermann, S. & Beutin, L. (2005). Investigation of domestic animals and pets as a reservoir for intimin-(eae) gene positive Escherichia coli types. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 106(1), pp. 87-95.
- Kruse, P.E. (1983). The importance of colostral immunoglobulins and their absorption from the intestine of the newborn animals. *Annals of Veterinary Research*, 14(4), pp. 349-353.
- Kuehne, S.A., Cartman, S.T., Heap, J.T., Kelly, M.L., Cockayne, A. & Minton, N.P. (2010). The role of toxin A and toxin B in Clostridium difficile infection. *Nature*, 467(7316), pp. 711-713.
- Langmead, B. & Salzberg, S.L. (2012). Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. *Nature Methods*, 9(4), pp. 357-359.
- Laskowski, M., Kassell, B. & Hagerty, G. (1957). A crystalline trypsine inhibitor from swine colostrum. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 24(2), pp. 300-305.
- Lawley, T.D. & Walker, A.W. (2013). Intestinal colonization resistance. *Immunology*, 138(1), pp. 1-11.
- Lawrence, G. & Cooke, R. (1980). Experimental pigbel: the production and pathology of necrotizing enteritis due to Clostridium welchii type C in the guinea-pig. *British Journal of Experimental Pathology*, 61(3), pp. 261-271.
- Le Dividich, J. & Noblet, J. (1981). Colostrum intake and thermoregulation in the neonatal pig in relation to environmental temperature. *Biology of the Neonate*, 40(3-4), pp. 167-174.
- Le Dividich, J., Noblet, J. (1983). Thermoregulation and energy metabolism in the neonatal pig. *Annals of Veterinary Research*, 14(4), pp. 375-381.
- Leclerc, S., Boerlin, P., Gyles, C., Dubreuil, J.D., Mourez, M., Fairbrother, J.M. & Harel, J. (2007). paa, originally identified in attaching and effacing Escherichia coli, is also associated with enterotoxigenic E. coli. *Research in Microbiology*, 158(1), pp. 97-104.
- Leser, T.D., Amenuvor, J.Z., Jensen, T.K., Lindecrona, R.H., Boye, M. & Moller, K. (2002). Culture-independent analysis of gut bacteria: the pig gastrointestinal tract microbiota revisited. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(2), pp. 673-690.
- Li, L., Deng, X., Mee, E.T., Collot-Teixeira, S., Anderson, R., Schepelmann, S., Minor, P.D. & Delwart, E. (2015). Comparing viral metagenomics methods using a highly multiplexed human viral pathogens reagent. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 213, pp. 139-146.
- Lim, E.S., Zhou, Y., Zhao, G., Bauer, I.K., Droit, L., Ndao, I.M., Warner, B.B., Tarr, P.I., Wang, D. & Holtz, L.R. (2015). Early life dynamics of the human gut virome and bacterial microbiome in infants. *Nature Medicine*, 21(10), pp. 1228–1234.
- Lin, C.-M., Gao, X., Oka, T., Vlasova, A.N., Esseili, M.A., Wang, Q. & Saif, L.J. (2015). Antigenic relationships among porcine epidemic diarrhea virus and transmissible gastroenteritis virus strains. *Journal of Virology*, 89(6), pp. 3332-3342.
- Lindsay, D.S., Dubey, J.P. & Blagburn, B.L. (1997). Biology of Isospora spp. from humans, nonhuman primates, and domestic animals. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 10(1), pp. 19-34.
- Lindsay, D.S., Dubey, J.P., Santín-Durán, M., Fayer, R. (2012). Coccidia and other protozoa. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine, 10th Edition*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Lindsay, D.S., Stuart, B.P., Wheat, B.E. & Ernst, J.V. (1980). Endogenous Development of the Swine Coccidium, Isospora-Suis Biester 1934. *Journal of Parasitology*, 66(5), pp. 771-779.
- Lippke, R.T., Borowski, S.M., Marques, S.M.T., Paesi, S.O., Almeida, L.L., Moreno, A.M., Corbellini, L.G. & de Barcellos, D.E.S.N. (2011). Matched case-control study evaluating the frequency of the main agents associated with neonatal diarrhea in piglets. *Pesquisa Veterinaria Brasileira*, 31(6), pp. 505-510.
- Lorenzetti, E., Stipp, D.T., Possatti, F., Campanha, J.E., Alfieri, A.F. & Alfieri, A.A. (2014). Diarrhea outbreaks in suckling piglets due to rotavirus group C single and mixed (rotavirus groups A and B) infections. *Pesquisa Veterinaria Brasileira*, 34(5), pp. 391-397.
- Lu, L. & Walker, W.A. (2001). Pathologic and physiologic interactions of bacteria with the gastrointestinal epithelium. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 73(6), pp. 1124S-1130S.
- Lundgren, O. & Svensson, L. (2001). Pathogenesis of rotavirus diarrhea. *Microbes and Infection*, 3(13), pp. 1145-1156.
- Luo, Z., Roi, S., Dastor, M., Gallice, E., Laurin, M.-A. & L'Homme, Y. (2011). Multiple novel and prevalent astroviruses in pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 149(3), pp. 316-323.
- Maddox-Hyttel, C., Langkjær, R.B., Enemark, H.L. & Vigre, H. (2006). Cryptosporidium and Giardia in different age groups of Danish cattle and pigs—occurrence and management associated risk factors. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 141(1), pp. 48-59.
- Malik, A., Tóth, I., Beutin, L., Schmidt, H., Taminiau, B., Dow, M.A., Morabito, S., Oswald, E., Mainil, J. & Nagy, B. (2006). Serotypes and intimin types of intestinal and faecal strains of eae+ Escherichia coli from weaned pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 114(1), pp. 82-93.
- Malmkvist, J., Pedersen, L.J., Damgaard, B.M., Thodberg, K., Jørgensen, E. & Labouriau, R. (2006). Does floor heating around parturition affect the vitality of piglets born to loose housed sows? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 99(1), pp. 88-105.
- Martelli, P., Lavazza, A., Nigrelli, A., Merialdi, G., Alborali, L. & Pensaert, M. (2008). Epidemic of diarrhoea caused by porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus in Italy. *The Veterinary Record*, 162(10), pp. 307-310.
- Marthaler, D., Rossow, K., Culhane, M., Collins, J., Goyal, S., Ciarlet, M. & Matthijnssens, J. (2013). Identification, phylogenetic analysis and classification of porcine group C rotavirus VP7 sequences from the United States and Canada. *Virology*, 446(1-2), pp. 189-198.
- Martin, W. (2014). Making valid causal inferences from observational data. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 113(3), pp. 281-297.
- Martineau, G., Smith, B. & Doize, B. (1992). Pathogenesis, prevention, and treatment of lactational insufficiency in sows. *The Veterinary Clinics of North America. Food Animal Practice*, 8(3), pp. 661-684.
- Martineau, G.P., Vaillancourt, J.P., Broes, A. (1995). Principal Neonatal Diseases. In: Varley, M.A. (Ed.) *The Neonatal Pig- Development and Survival*. Wallingford: CAB International, pp. 239-264.
- Maxwell, F.J., Stewart, C.S. (1995). The microbiology of the gut and the role of probiotics. In: Varley, M.A. (Ed.) *The Neonatal Pig- Development and Survival*. Wallingford: CAB International, pp. 155-186.
- 80

- McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Donnenberg, M.S. & Kaper, J.B. (1995). A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(5), pp. 1664-1668.
- Medical Products Agency (2012). Dosering av antibiotika till gris- ny rekommendation. (Information från läkemedelsverket 23, supplement 1). Sweden: Medical Products Agency. Available from: https://lakemedelsverket.se/malgrupp/Halso---sjukvard/Behandlings-rekommendationer/Veterinara-lakemedel/Dosering-av-antibiotika-till-gris/ [2016-01-24].
- Melin, L., Jensen-Waern, M., Johannisson, A., Ederoth, M., Katouli, M. & Wallgren, P. (1997). Development of selected faecal microfloras and of phagocytic and killing capacity of neutrophils in young pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 54(3-4), pp. 287-300.
- Melin, L., Wallgren, P., Mattsson, S., Stampe, M., Löfstedt, M. Neonatal diarrhoea in piglets from E. coli vaccinated sows in Sweden. In: *Proceedings of 21st International Pig Veterinary Society Congress*, Vancouver, Canada, 2010, p. 290.
- Mellor, D.J. & Stafford, K.J. (2004). Animal welfare implications of neonatal mortality and morbidity in farm animals. *The Veterinary Journal*, 168(2), pp. 118-133.
- Mokili, J.L., Rohwer, F. & Dutilh, B.E. (2012). Metagenomics and future perspectives in virus discovery. *Current Opinion in Virology*, 2(1), pp. 63-77.
- Moon, H. (1978). Mechanisms in the pathogenesis of diarrhea: a review. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 172(4), pp. 443-448.
- Moon, H. & Bergeland, M. (1965). Clostridium perfringens type C enterotoxemia of the newborn pig. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 6(7), pp. 159-161.
- Moon, H., Nielsen, N. & Kramer, T. (1970). Experimental enteric colibacillosis of the newborn pig: histopathology of the small intestine and changes in plasma electrolytes. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 31(1), pp. 103-112.
- Moon, H., Norman, J. & Lambert, G. (1973). Age Dependent Resistance to Transmissible Gastroenteritis of Swine (TGE) I. Clinical Signs and Some Mucosal Dimensions in Small Intestine. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine*, 37(2), pp. 157-166.
- Moon, H.W. (1971). Epithelial cell migration in the alimentary mucosa of the suckling pig. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 137(1), pp. 151-154.
- Moon, H.W. & Bunn, T.O. (1993). Vaccines for preventing enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli infections in farm animals. *Vaccine*, 11(2), pp. 213-200.
- Moon, H.W., Whipp, S.C., Argenzio, R.A., Levine, M.M. & Giannella, R.A. (1983). Attaching and Effacing Activities of Rabbit and Human Enteropathogenic Escherichia-Coli in Pig and Rabbit Intestines. *Infection and Immunity*, 41(3), pp. 1340-1351.
- Mor, S.K., Chander, Y., Marthaler, D., Patnayak, D.P. & Goyal, S.M. (2012). Detection and molecular characterization of Porcine astrovirus strains associated with swine diarrhea. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 24(6), pp. 1064-1067.
- Morilla, A., Arriaga, C., Ruiz, A., Martinez, A.G., Cigarroa, R. & Valazquez, A. (1991). Association between diarrhoea and shedding of group A and atypical groups B to E rotaviruses in suckling pigs. *Annals of Veterinary Research*, 22(2), pp. 193-200.
- Morin, M., Magar, R. & Robinson, Y. (1990). Porcine group C rotavirus as a cause of neonatal diarrhea in a Quebec swine herd. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 54(3), pp. 385-389.

- Morin, M., Phaneuf, J. & Malo, R. (1981). Clostridium perfringens type C enteritis in a Quebec swine herd. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 22(3), p. 58.
- Morin, M., Turgeon, D., Jolette, J., Robinson, Y., Phaneuf, J.B., Sauvageau, R., Beauregard, M., Teuscher, E., Higgins, R. & Lariviere, S. (1983). Neonatal diarrhea of pigs in Quebec: infectious causes of significant outbreaks. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine*, 47(1), pp. 11-7.
- Moughan, P.J., Birtles, M.J., Cranwell, P.D., Smith, W.C. & Pedraza, M. (1992). The piglet as a model animal for studying aspects of digestion and absorption in milk-fed human infants. *World Review of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 67, pp. 40-113.
- Mylonakis, E., Ryan, E.T. & Calderwood, S.B. (2001). Clostridium difficile–associated diarrhea: a review. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 161(4), pp. 525-533.
- Nabuurs, M.J., Haagsma, J., Van de Molen, E.J., Van der Heijden, P.J. (1983). Diarrhea in one to three week-old piglets associated with Clostridium perfringens type A. *Annales de Recherches Veterinaires*, 14(4), pp. 408-411.
- Nagy, B. & Fekete, P.Z. (1999). Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) in farm animals. *Veterinary Research*, 30(2-3), pp. 259-284.
- Nagy, B. & Fekete, P.Z. (2005). Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in veterinary medicine. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 295(6-7), pp. 443-454.
- Naito, S., Hayashidani, H., Kaneko, K., Ogawa, M. & Benno, Y. (1995). Development of intestinal lactobacilli in normal piglets. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 79(2), pp. 230-236.

Nataro, J.P. & Kaper, J.B. (1998). Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 11(1), pp. 142-201.

National Board of Health and Welfare (2013). Salmonella- ett nationellt styrdokument. Sweden: National Board of Health and Welfare. Available from: http://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-material/publikationer/Salmonella--ettnationellt-strategidokument/ [2016-01-24].

- Němejc, K., Sak, B., Květoňová, D., Kernerová, N., Rost, M., Cama, V.A. & Kváč, M. (2013). Occurrence of Cryptosporidium suis and Cryptosporidium scrofarum on commercial swine farms in the Czech Republic and its associations with age and husbandry practices. *Parasitology Research*, 112(3), pp. 1143-1154.
- Ngeleka, M., Pritchard, J., Appleyard, G., Middleton, D.M. & Fairbrother, J.M. (2003). Isolation and association of Escherichia coli AIDA-I/STb, rather than EAST1 pathotype, with diarrhea in piglets and antibiotic sensitivity of isolates. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 15(3), pp. 242-252.
- Nicklas, J.L., Moisan, P., Stone, M.R. & Gookin, J.L. (2010). In Situ Molecular Diagnosis and Histopathological Characterization of Enteroadherent Enterococcus hirae Infection in Pre-Weaning-Age Kittens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 48(8), pp. 2814-2820.
- Nietfeld, J., Leslie-Steen, P., Zeman, D. & Nelson, D. (1997). Prevalence of intestinal chlamydial infection in pigs in the midwest, as determined by immunoperoxidase staining. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 58(3), pp. 260-264.
- Nietfeld, J.C., Janke, B.H., Leslie-Steen, P., Robison, D.J. & Zeman, D.H. (1993). Small intestinal Chlamydia infection in piglets. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 5(1), pp. 114-117.

- Niewerth, U., Frey, A., Voss, T., Le Bouguénec, C., Baljer, G., Franke, S. & Schmidt, M.A. (2001). The AIDA autotransporter system is associated with F18 and stx2e in Escherichia coli isolates from pigs diagnosed with edema disease and postweaning diarrhea. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, 8(1), pp. 143-149.
- Niilo, L. (1988). Clostridium perfringens type C enterotoxemia. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 29(8), pp. 658-664.
- Nilsson, O., Martinsson, K. & Persson, E. (1984). Epidemiology of Porcine Neonatal Steatorrhea in Sweden .1. Prevalence and Clinical-Significance of Coccidal and Rotaviral Infections. *Nordisk Veterinärmedicin*, 36(3-4), pp. 103-110.
- Nordkvist, E. & Häggblom, P. (2014). Fusarium mycotoxin contamination of cereals and bedding straw at Swedish pig farms. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 198, pp. 231-237.
- Olubunmi, P. & Taylor, D. (1985). Clostridium perfringens type A in enteric diseases of pig. *Tropical Veterinarian*, 3, pp. 28-33.
- Pabst, R., Geist, M., Rothkötter, H. & Fritz, F. (1988). Postnatal development and lymphocyte production of jejunal and ileal Peyer's patches in normal and gnotobiotic pigs. *Immunology*, 64(3), pp. 539-544.
- Park, S.-J., Kim, H.-K., Moon, H.-J., Song, D.-S., Rho, S.-M., Han, J.-Y., Nguyen, V.-G. & Park, B.-K. (2010). Molecular detection of porcine kobuviruses in pigs in Korea and their association with diarrhea. *Archives of Virology*, 155(11), pp. 1803-1811.
- Payne, L. & Marsh, C. (1962). Gamma Globulin Absorption in the Baby Pig The Nonselective Absorption of Heterologous Globulins and Factors Influencing Absorption Time. *Journal of Nutrition*, 76(2), pp. 151-158.
- Pedersen, K.S., Stege, H. & Nielsen, J.P. (2011). Evaluation of a microwave method for dry matter determination in faecal samples from weaned pigs with or without clinical diarrhoea. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 100(3), pp. 163-170.
- Pedersen, L.J., Berg, P., Jörgensen, E., Bonde, M.K., Möllegaard Knage-Rasmussen, M., Kongsted, A.G., Lauridsen, C., Oksbjerg, N., Poulsen, H.D, Sörensen, D.A., Su, G., Sörensen, M.T., Kappel Theil, P., Thodberg, K., Hjelholt Jensen, K. (2010). *Pattegrisdödelighed i DK, mulgheder for reduktion af pattegrisdödeligheden i Danmark.* (DJF Rapport - Husdyrbrug, 86): Aarhus Universitet, Det Jordbrugsvidenskabelige Fakultet. Available from: http://web.agrsci.dk/djfpublikation/index.asp?action=show&id=1109 [2016-01-23].
- Pedersen, L.J., Malmkvist, J., Kammersgaard, T. & Jorgensen, E. (2013). Avoiding hypothermia in neonatal pigs: effect of duration of floor heating at different room temperatures. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91(1), pp. 425-432.
- Pensaert, M., Callebaut, P. & Vergote, J. (1986). Isolation of a porcine respiratory, non-enteric coronavirus related to transmissible gastroenteritis. *Veterinary Quarterly*, 8(3), pp. 257-261.
- Pensaert, M. & De Bouck, P. (1978). A new coronavirus-like particle associated with diarrhea in swine. Archives of Virology, 58(3), pp. 243-247.
- Pensaert, M., Haelterman, E. & Burnstein, T. (1970). Transmissible gastroenteritis of swine: Virus-intestinal cell interactions I. Immunofluorescence, histopathology and virus production in the small intestine through the course of infection. *Archiv für die gesamte Virusforschung*, 31(3-4), pp. 321-334.

- Penteado, A.S., Aidar, L., de Castro, A.F.P., Yamada, A., Andrade, J.R., Blanco, J., Blanco, M. & Blanco, J.E. (2001). eae-negative attaching and effacing Escherichia coli from piglets with diarrhea. *Research in Microbiology*, 152(1), pp. 75-81.
- Petit, L., Gibert, M. & Popoff, M.R. (1999). Clostridium perfringens: toxinotype and genotype. *Trends in Microbiology*, 7(3), pp. 104-110.
- Petri, D., Hill, J. & Van Kessel, A. (2010). Microbial succession in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of the preweaned pig. *Livestock Science*, 133(1), pp. 107-109.
- Pig Research Center (2010). *Pig research center annual report 2010*. Denmark: Danish Agriculture and foud council pig production board. Available from: http://vsp.lf.dk/~/media/Files/PDF%20-
- %20Aarsberetning%20VSP%20English/ANNUAL%20REPORT%202010.pdf [2016-01-23].
  Pospischil, A., Hess, R.G. & Bachmann, P.A. (1981). Light microscopy and ultrahistology of intestinal changes in pigs infected with epizootic diarrhoea virus (EVD): comparison with transmissible gastroenteritis (TGE) virus and porcine rotavirus infections. Zentralblatt für
- Veterinärmedizin Reihe B, 28(7), pp. 564-577.
  Pritchard, G. (1987). Transmissible gastroenteritis in endemically infected breeding herds of pigs in East Anglia, 1981-85. *The Veterinary Record*, 120(10), pp. 226-230.
- Pritchard, J., Ngeleka, M. & Middleton, D.M. (2004). In vivo and in vitro colonization patterns of AIDA-I-positive Escherichia coli isolates from piglets with diarrhea. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 16(2), pp. 108-115.
- Ramig, R.F. (2004). Pathogenesis of intestinal and systemic rotavirus infection. *Journal of Virology*, 78(19), pp. 10213-10220.
- Ramirez, A., Karriker, L. A. (2012). Herd evaluation. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine, 10th Edition*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Ravi, M., Ngeleka, M., Kim, S.H., Gyles, C., Berthiaume, F., Mourez, M., Middleton, D. & Simko, E. (2007). Contribution of AIDA-I to the pathogenicity of a porcine diarrheagenic Escherichia coli and to intestinal colonization through biofilm formation in pigs. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 120(3-4), pp. 308-319.
- Reuter, G., Zimšek-Mijovski, J., Poljšak-Prijatelj, M., Di Bartolo, I., Ruggeri, F.M., Kantala, T., Maunula, L., Kiss, I., Kecskeméti, S. & Halaihel, N. (2010). Incidence, diversity, and molecular epidemiology of sapoviruses in swine across Europe. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 48(2), pp. 363-368.
- Reyes, G.R. & Kim, J.P. (1991). Sequence-independent, single-primer amplification (SISPA) of complex DNA populations. *Molecular and Cellular Probes*, 5(6), pp. 473-481.
- Roberts, L. & Walker, E.J. (1982). Field study of coccidial and rotaviral diarrhoea in unweaned piglets. *Veterinary Record*, 110(1), pp. 11-3.
- Robinson, M. & Turgeon, D. (1980). Intestinal coccidiosis in baby pig diarrhea. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 21(2), p. 65.
- Roepstorff, A. & Jorsal, S. (1989). Prevalence of helminth infections in swine in Denmark. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 33(3), pp. 231-239.
- Roepstorff, A., Nilsson, O., Oksanen, A., Gjerde, B., Richter, S., Örtenberg, E., Christensson, D., Martinsson, K., Bartlett, P. & Nansen, P. (1998). Intestinal parasites in swine in the Nordic

countries: prevalence and geographical distribution. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 76(4), pp. 305-319.

- Rogers, D.G., Zeman, D.H. & Erickson, E.D. (1992). Diarrhea Associated with Enterococcus-Durans in Calves. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 4(4), pp. 471-472.
- Rooke, J.A. & Bland, I.M. (2002). The acquisition of passive immunity in the new-born piglet. *Livestock Production Science*, 78(1), pp. 13-23.
- Rosseel, T., Van Borm, S., Vandenbussche, F., Hoffmann, B., van den Berg, T., Beer, M. & Höper, D. (2013). The origin of biased sequence depth in sequence-independent nucleic acid amplification and optimization for efficient massive parallel sequencing. *PLoS One*, 8(9), p. e76144.
- Rothkötter, H. & Pabst, R. (1989). Lymphocyte subsets in jejunal and ileal Peyer's patches of normal and gnotobiotic minipigs. *Immunology*, 67(1), pp. 103-108.
- Ruan, X., Crupper, S.S., Schultz, B.D., Robertson, D.C. & Zhang, W. (2012). Escherichia coli expressing EAST1 toxin did not cause an increase of cAMP or cGMP levels in cells, and no diarrhea in 5-day old gnotobiotic pigs. *PLoS One*, 7(8), p. e43203.
- Runnels, P.L., Moon, H.W. & Schneider, R.A. (1980). Development of resistance with host age to adhesion of K99+ Escherichia coli to isolated intestinal epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 28(1), pp. 298-300.
- Saif, L.J., Pansaert, M. B., Sestak, K., Yeo, S.G., Jung, K. (2012). Coronaviruses. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine, 10th Edition.* Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 501-524.
- Sarmiento, J.I. (1983). *Environmental temperature: a predisposing factor in the enterotoxigenic escherichia coli-induced diarrhea of the newborn pig.* Diss. Guelph: University of Guelph.
- Savarino, S.J., Fasano, A., Robertson, D.C. & Levine, M.M. (1991). Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli elaborate a heat-stable enterotoxin demonstrable in an in vitro rabbit intestinal model. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 87(4), pp. 1450-1455.
- Savarino, S.J., Fasano, A., Watson, J., Martin, B.M., Levine, M.M., Guandalini, S. & Guerry, P. (1993). Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli heat-stable enterotoxin 1 represents another subfamily of E. coli heat-stable toxin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90(7), pp. 3093-3097.
- Sayeed, S., Uzal, F.A., Fisher, D.J., Saputo, J., Vidal, J.E., Chen, Y., Gupta, P., Rood, J.I. & McClane, B.A. (2008). Beta toxin is essential for the intestinal virulence of Clostridium perfringens type C disease isolate CN3685 in a rabbit ileal loop model. *Molecular Microbiology*, 67(1), pp. 15-30.
- Schautteet, K. & Vanrompay, D. (2011). Chlamydiaceae infections in pig. *Veterinary Research*, 42(1), p. 29.
- Schierack, P., Steinruck, H., Kleta, S. & Vahjen, W. (2006). Virulence factor gene profiles of Escherichia coli isolates from clinically healthy pigs. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(10), pp. 6680-6686.
- Schmieder, R. & Edwards, R. (2011). Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. *Bioinformatics*, 27(6), pp. 863-864.

- Schroyen, M., Stinckens, A., Verhelst, R., Niewold, T. & Buys, N. (2012). The search for the gene mutations underlying enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli F4ab/ac susceptibility in pigs: a review. *Veterinary Research*, 43(1), p. 70.
- Schwegmann-Wessels, C. & Herrler, G. (2006). Transmissible gastroenteritis virus infection: a vanishing specter. DTW. Deutsche tierarztliche Wochenschrift, 113(4), pp. 157-159.
- Shaw, D.P., Morehouse, L.G. & Solorzano, R.F. (1989). Rotavirus replication in colostrum-fed and colostrum-deprived pigs. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 50(11), pp. 1966-1970.
- Shimizu, M., Shirai, J., Narita, M. & Yamane, T. (1990). Cytopathic astrovirus isolated from porcine acute gastroenteritis in an established cell line derived from porcine embryonic kidney. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 28(2), pp. 201-206.
- Shirai, J., Shimizu, M., Fukusyo, A. (1985). Coronavirus-, calicivirus-, and astrovirus-like particles associated with acute porcine gastroenteritis. *The Japanese Journal of Veterinary Science*, 47(6), pp. 1023-1026.
- Silva, R.O., Lobato, F.C., Pires, P.S., Gabardo, M.P., Paladino, E.S. & Guedes, R.M. (2013). Neonatal diarrhea in piglets associated with cpb-2 positive Clostridium perfringens. *Brazilian Journal of Veterinary Pathology*, 6(1), pp. 11-14.
- Silva, R.O.S., Salvarani, F.M., Júnior, C., da Costa, E.C., Pires, P.S., Santos, R.L.R., Assis, R.A.d., Guedes, R.M.d.C. & Lobato, F.C.F. (2011). Detection of enterotoxin A and cytotoxin B, and isolation of Clostridium difficile in piglets in Minas Gerais, Brazil. *Ciência Rural*, 41(8), pp. 1430-1435.
- Sjölund, M., Backhans, A., Greko, C., Emanuelson, U. & Lindberg, A. (2015). Antimicrobial usage in 60 Swedish farrow-to-finish pig herds. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 121(3), pp. 257-264.
- Sjölund, M., Zoric, M., Wallgren, P. Financial impact of disease on pig production. Part III. Gastrointestinal disorders. In: *Proceedings of 6th European Symposium of Porcine Health Management*, Sorrento, Italy, 2014, p. 189.
- Skewes-Cox, P., Sharpton, T.J., Pollard, K.S. & DeRisi, J.L. (2014). Profile hidden Markov models for the detection of viruses within metagenomic sequence data. *PLoS One*, 9(8), e105067.
- Smith, H.W. & Gyles, C.L. (1970). The relationship between two apparently different enterotoxins produced by enteropathogenic strains of Escherichia coli of porcine origin. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 3(3), pp. 387-401.
- Smith, H.W. & Jones, J. (1963). Observations on the alimentary tract and its bacterial flora in healthy and diseased pigs. *The Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology*, 86(2), pp. 387-412.
- Smith, M.W. & Jarvis, L.G. (1978). Growth and cell replacement in the new-born pig intestine. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 203(1150), pp. 69-89.
- Sojka, W., Lloyd, M. & Sweeney, E. (1960). Escherichia coli serotypes associated with certain pig diseases. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 1, pp. 17-27.
- Song, D. & Park, B. (2012). Porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus: a comprehensive review of molecular epidemiology, diagnosis, and vaccines. *Virus Genes*, 44(2), pp. 167-175.

- Songer, G.J. (2012). Clostridiosis. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine*. 10th. ed. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 709-722.
- Songer, J.G. (1996). Clostridial enteric diseases of domestic animals. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 9(2), pp. 216-234.
- Songer, J.G., Post, K.W., Larson, D.J., Jost, B.H. & Glock, R.D. (2000). Infection of neonatal swine with Clostridium difficile. *Swine Health and Production*, 8(4), pp. 185-189.
- Songer, J.G. & Uzal, F.A. (2005). Clostridial enteric infections in pigs. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 17(6), pp. 528-536.
- Speer, V.C., Brown, H., Quinn, L. & Catron, D.V. (1959). The cessation of antibody absorption in the young pig. *The Journal of Immunology*, 83(6), pp. 632-634.
- Stadler, J., Zoels, S., Fux, R., Hanke, D., Pohlmann, A., Blome, S., Weissenböck, H., Weissenbacher-Lang, C., Ritzmann, M. & Ladinig, A. (2015). Emergence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in southern Germany. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 11(1), p. 1.
- Statistics Sweden (2012). Yearbook of agricultural statistics 2012 including food statistics. Sweden: Official statistics of Sweden. Available from:

https://www.jordbruksverket.se/omjordbruksverket/statistik/jordbruksstatistisksammanstallnin g [2016-01-24].

- Steel, R. & Torres-Medina, A. (1984). Effects of environmental and dietary factors on human rotavirus infection in gnotobiotic piglets. *Infection and Immunity*, 43(3), pp. 906-911.
- Steele, J., Feng, H.P., Parry, N. & Tzipori, S. (2010). Piglet Models of Acute or Chronic Clostridium difficile Illness. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 201(3), pp. 428-434.
- Steele, J., Parry, N. & Tzipori, S. (2014). The roles of toxin A and toxin B in Clostridium difficile infection: Insights from the gnotobiotic piglet model. *Gut Microbes*, 5(1), pp. 53-57.
- Steinthorsdottir, V., Halldórsson, H. & Andrésson, O.S. (2000). Clostridium perfringens betatoxin forms multimeric transmembrane pores in human endothelial cells. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 28(1), pp. 45-50.
- Stevenson, G.W., Hoang, H., Schwartz, K.J., Burrough, E.B., Sun, D., Madson, D., Cooper, V.L., Pillatzki, A., Gauger, P. & Schmitt, B.J. (2013). Emergence of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus in the United States: clinical signs, lesions, and viral genomic sequences. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 25(5), pp. 649-654.
- Stuart, B.P., Lindsay, D.S., Ernst, J.V. & Gosser, H.S. (1980). Isospora suis enteritis in piglets. *Veterinary Pathology*, 17(1), pp. 84-93.
- Stuart, B.P., Gosser, H.S., Allen, C.B. & Bedell, D.M. (1982). Coccidiosis in swine: dose and age response to Isospora suis. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine and Veterinary Science*, 46(3), pp. 317-320.
- Swedish Board of Agriculture (2005-2014). Annual statistics on notifiable animal diseases under the regulations of the Swedish Board of Agriculture (SJVFS 2012: 24) on notifiable animal diseases and infectious agents. Sweden: Swedish Board of Agriculture. Available from: https://www.jordbruksverket.se/amnesomraden/djur/sjukdomarochsmittskydd/anmalningsplik t/sjukdomsstatistik/ [2016-01-23].
- Svendsen, J., Bille, N., Nielsen, N., Larsen, J. & Riising, H. (1975). Preweaning mortality in pigs 4. Diseases of the gastrointestinal tract in pigs. *Nordisk veterinärmedicin*, 27(2), pp. 85-101.

- Svendsen, J., Wilson, M. & Ewert, E. (1972). Serum protein levels in pigs from birth to maturity and in young pigs with and without enteric colibacillosis. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 13(4), pp. 528-538.
- Svensmark, B. New neonatal diarrhoea syndrome in Denmark. In: *Proceedings of 1st European Symposium on Porcine Health Management*, Copenhagen, Denmark, 2009, p. 27.
- Svensmark, B., Askaa, J., Wolstrup, C. & Nielsen, K. (1989a). Epidemiological studies of piglet diarrhoea in intensively managed Danish sow herds. IV. Pathogenicity of porcine rotavirus. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 30(1), pp. 71-76.
- Svensmark, B., Jorsal, S., Nielsen, K. & Willeberg, P. (1988). Epidemiological studies of piglet diarrhoea in intensively managed Danish sow herds. I. Pre-weaning diarrhoea. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 30(1), pp. 43-53.
- Svensmark, B., Nielsen, K., Dalsgaard, K. & Willeberg, P. (1989b). Epidemiological studies of piglet diarrhoea in intensively managed Danish sow herds. III. Rotavirus infection. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 30(1), pp. 63-70.
- Swords, W.E., Wu, C.C., Champlin, F.R. & Buddington, R.K. (1993). Postnatal changes in selected bacterial groups of the pig colonic microflora. *Biology of the Neonate*, 63(3), pp. 191-200.
- Szeredi, L., Schiller, I., Sydler, T., Guscetti, F., Heinen, E., Corboz, L., Eggenberger, E., Jones, G. & Pospischil, A. (1996). Intestinal Chlamydia in finishing pigs. *Veterinary Pathology*, 33(4), pp. 369-374.
- Söderlind, O. (1971). Studies on Escherichia coli in Pigs II. Serological Investigations. Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin Reihe B, 18(8), pp. 569-590.
- Söderlind, O., Möllby, R. (1978). Studies on Escherichia coli in pigs V. Determination of enterotoxicity and frequency of O groups and K88-antigen in strains from 200 piglets with neonatal diarrhea. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin Reihe B*, 25(9), pp. 719-728.
- Söderlind, O., Möllby, R. (1979). Enterotoxins, O-groups, and K88 antigen in Escherichia coli from neonatal piglets with and without diarrhea. *Infection and Immunity*, 24(3), pp. 611-616.
- Söderlind, O., Thafvelin, B., Möllby, R. (1988). Virulence factors in Escherichia coli strains isolated from Swedish piglets with diarrhea. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 26(5), pp. 879-884.
- Thompson, C.L., Wang, B. & Holmes, A.J. (2008). The immediate environment during postnatal development has long-term impact on gut community structure in pigs. *ISME Journal*, 2(7), pp. 739-748.
- Thomson, J.R., Friendship R.M. (2012). Digestive system. In: Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K. J. and Stevenson, G.W. (Ed.) *Diseases of Swine* 10th. ed. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 216-218.
- Trayhurn, P., Temple, N.J. & Van Aerde, J. (1989). Evidence from immunoblotting studies on uncoupling protein that brown adipose tissue is not present in the domestic pig. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 67(12), pp. 1480-1485.
- Tzipori, S., Hayes, J., Sims, L. & Withers, M. (1984). Streptococcus-Durans an Unexpected Enteropathogen of Foals. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 150(4), pp. 589-593.

- Tzipori, S., Montanaro, J., Robins-Browne, R., Vial, P., Gibson, R. & Levine, M. (1992). Studies with enteroaggregative Escherichia coli in the gnotobiotic piglet gastroenteritis model. *Infection and Immunity*, 60(12), pp. 5302-5306.
- Tzipori, S., Robinsbrowne, R.M., Gonis, G., Hayes, J., Withers, M. & Mccartney, E. (1985). Enteropathogenic Escherichia-Coli Enteritis - Evaluation of the Gnotobiotic Piglet as a Model of Human Infection. *Gut*, 26(6), pp. 570-578.
- Tzipori, S. & Williams, I.H. (1978). Diarrhoea in piglets inoculated with rotavirus. Australian Veterinary Journal, 54(4), pp. 188-192.
- Uber, A.P., Trabulsi, L.R., Irino, K., Beutin, L., Ghilardi, Å.C., Gomes, T.A., Liberatore, A.M.A., de Castro, A.F. & Elias, W.P. (2006). Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli from humans and animals differ in major phenotypical traits and virulence genes. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 256(2), pp. 251-257.
- Wagstrom, E.A., Yoon, K.-J. & Zimmerman, J.J. (2000). Immune components in porcine mammary secretions. *Viral Immunology*, 13(3), pp. 383-397.
- Walker, P., Murrell, T. & Nagy, L. (1980). Scanning electronmicroscopy of the jejunum in enteritis necroticans. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 13(3), pp. 445-450.
- Wallgren, P., Mattsson, S., Merza, M. New neonatal porcine diarrhoea. II. aspects on etiology. In: Proceedings of 22nd International Pig Veterinary Society Congress, Jeju, Korea, 2012, p. 76.
- Wallgren, P., Valarcher, J. F. (2014). PED, en allvarlig tarminfektion hos grisar. Svensk Veterinärtidning, 11, pp. 11-14.
- van Damme-Jongsten, M., Haagsma, J. & Notermans, S. (1990). Testing strains of Clostridium perfringens type A isolated from diarrhoeic piglets for the presence of the enterotoxin gene. *The Veterinary Record*, 126(8), pp. 191-192.
- Van der Waaij, D., Berghuis-de Vries, J. & Lekkerkerk-Van der Wees, J. (1971). Colonization resistance of the digestive tract in conventional and antibiotic-treated mice. *Journal of Hygiene*, 69(3), pp. 405-411.
- Vancanneyt, M., Snauwaert, C., Cleenwerck, I., Baele, M., Descheemaeker, P., Goossens, H., Pot, B., Vandamme, P., Swings, J., Haesebrouck, F. & Devriese, L.A. (2001). Enterococcus villorum sp nov., an enteroadherent bacterium associated with diarrhoea in piglets. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 51, pp. 393-400.
- Wang, Q.-H., Han, M.G., Cheetham, S., Souza, M., Funk, J.A. & Saif, L.J. (2005). Porcine noroviruses related to human noroviruses. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 11(12), pp. 1874-1881.
- Ward, L., Rich, E. & Besser, T. (1996). Role of maternally derived circulating antibodies in protection of neonatal swine against porcine group A rotavirus. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 174(2), pp. 276-282.
- Waters, E.H., Orr, J.P., Clark, E.G. & Schaufele, C.M. (1998). Typhlocolitis caused by Clostridium difficile in suckling piglets. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 10(1), pp. 104-108.
- Vavricka, S.R., Burri, E., Beglinger, C., Degen, L. & Manz, M. (2009). Serum protein electrophoresis: an underused but very useful test. *Digestion*, 79(4), pp. 203-210.

- Weese, J.S., Staempfli, H.R. & Prescott, J.F. (2000). Survival of Clostridium difficile and its toxins in equine feces: implications for diagnostic test selection and interpretation. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 12(4), pp. 332-336.
- Weese, J.S., Wakeford, T., Reid-Smith, R., Rousseau, J. & Friendship, R. (2010). Longitudinal investigation of Clostridium difficile shedding in piglets. *Anaerobe*, 16(5), pp. 501-504.
- Weikel, C.S., Nellans, H.N. & Guerrant, R.L. (1986). In vivo and in vitro effects of a novel enterotoxin, STb, produced by Escherichia coli. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 153(5), pp. 893-901.
- Vela, A.I., Fernandez, A., Moreno, B., Casamayor, A., Chacon, G., Villa, A., Comenge, J. & Fernandez-Garayzabal, J.F. (2010). Isolation of Enterococcus hirae from suckling rabbits with diarrhoea. *Veterinary Record*, 167(9), pp. 345-346.
- Wellinghausen, N., Bartel, M., Essig, A. & Poppert, S. (2007). Rapid identification of clinically relevant Enterococcus species by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(10), pp. 3424-3426.
- Verma, H., Mor, S.K., Abdel-Glil, M.Y. & Goyal, S.M. (2013). Identification and molecular characterization of porcine kobuvirus in US swine. *Virus Genes*, 46(3), pp. 551-553.
- Westin, R., Holmgren, N., Hultgren, J., Ortman, K., Linder, A. & Algers, B. (2015). Post-mortem findings and piglet mortality in relation to strategic use of straw at farrowing. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 119(3-4), pp. 141-152.
- Weström, B.R., Ohlsson, B.G., Svendsen, J., Tagesson, C. & Karlsson, B.W. (1985). Intestinal transmission of macromolecules (BSA and FITC-dextran) in the neonatal pig: enhancing effect of colostrum, proteins and proteinase inhibitors. *Biology of the Neonate*, 47(6), pp. 359-366.
- Widdowson, E.M., Colombo, V. E., Artavanis C. A. (1976). Changes in the organs of pigs in response to feeding for the first 24 h after birth. II. The digestive tract. *Biology of the Neonate*, 28, pp. 272–281.
- Wieler, L., Ilieff, A., Herbst, W., Bauer, C., Vieler, E., Bauerfeind, R., Failing, K., Klös, H., Wengert, D. & Baljer, G. (2001). Prevalence of enteropathogens in suckling and weaned piglets with diarrhoea in southern Germany. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine, Series B*, 48(2), pp. 151-159.
- Will, L.A., Paul, P.S., Proescholdt, T.A., Aktar, S.N., Flaming, K.P., Janke, B.H., Sacks, J., Lyoo, Y.S., Hill, H.T. & Hoffman, L.J. (1994). Evaluation of rotavirus infection and diarrhea in Iowa commercial pigs based on an epidemiologic study of a population represented by diagnostic laboratory cases. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 6(4), pp. 416-422.
- Viney, M.E. & Lok, J.B. (2015). The biology of Strongyloides spp. In: The C. elegans Research Community (Ed.) *WormBook*. http://www.wormbook.org.
- Wise, R., Hart, T., Cars, O., Streulens, M., Helmuth, R., Huovinen, P. & Sprenger, M. (1998). Antimicrobial resistance: is a major threat to public health. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 317(7159), pp. 609-610.
- Vítovec, J., Hamadejová, K., Landová, L., Kváč, M., Květon`ová, D. & Sak, B. (2006). Prevalence and Pathogenicity of Cryptosporidium suis in Pre-and Post-weaned Pigs. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine, Series B*, 53(5), pp. 239-243.

- Wittum, T.E., Dewey, C.E., Hurd, H.S., Dargatz, D.A. & Hill, G.W. (1995). Herd-and litter-level factors associated with the incidence of diarrhea morbidity and mortality in piglets 1–3 days of age. *Swine Health and Production*, 3(3), pp. 99-104.
- Wood, D.E. & Salzberg, S.L. (2014). Kraken: ultrafast metagenomic sequence classification using exact alignments. *Genome Biology*, 15(3), p. R46.
- Wood, E. (1977). An apparently new syndrome of porcine epidemic diarrhoea. *The Veterinary Record*, 100(12), pp. 243-244.
- Vu-Khac, H., Holoda, E., Pilipcinec, E., Blanco, M., Blanco, J., Dahbi, G., Mora, A., López, C., González, E. & Blanco, J. (2007). Serotypes, virulence genes, intimin types and PFGE profiles of Escherichia coli isolated from piglets with diarrhoea in Slovakia. *The Veterinary Journal*, 174(1), pp. 176-187.
- Xu, R., Sangild, P., Zhang, Y. & Zhang, S. (2002). Bioactive compounds in porcine colostrum and milk and their effects on intestinal development in neonatal pigs. In: Zabielski, R., Gregory, P.C., Weström, B., Salek, E. (Ed.) *Biology of the Intestine in Growing Animals*. Edinburgh: Elsevier, pp. 169-192.
- Xu, R.J., Mellor, D.J., Tungthanathanich, P., Birtles, M.J., Reynolds, G.W. & Simpson, H.V. (1992). Growth and morphological changes in the small and the large intestine in piglets during the first three days after birth. *Journal of Developmental Physiology*, 18(4), pp. 161-172.
- Yaeger, M., Funk, N. & Hoffman, L. (2002). A survey of agents associated with neonatal diarrhea in Iowa swine including Clostridium difficile and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 14(4), pp. 281-287.
- Yaeger, M.J., Kinyon, J.M. & Songer, J.G. (2007). A prospective, case control study evaluating the association between Clostridium difficile toxins in the colon of neonatal swine and gross and microscopic lesions. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 19(1), pp. 52-59.
- Zhang, H., Malo, C., Boyle, C.R. & Buddington, R.K. (1998). Diet influences development of the pig (Sus scrofa) intestine during the first 6 hours after birth. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 128(8), pp. 1302-1310.
- Zhang, W., Berberov, E.M., Freeling, J., He, D., Moxley, R.A. & Francis, D.H. (2006). Significance of heat-stable and heat-labile enterotoxins in porcine colibacillosis in an additive model for pathogenicity studies. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(6), pp. 3107-3114.
- Zhang, W., Zhao, M., Ruesch, L., Omot, A. & Francis, D. (2007). Prevalence of virulence genes in Escherichia coli strains recently isolated from young pigs with diarrhea in the US. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 123(1), pp. 145-152.
- Zhu, C., Harel, J., Jacques, M., Desautels, C., Donnenberg, M., Beaudry, M. & Fairbrother, J. (1994). Virulence properties and attaching-effacing activity of Escherichia coli O45 from swine postweaning diarrhea. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(10), pp. 4153-4159.

## Acknowledgements

The work in this thesis was generously supported by funding from the Swedish Farmer' Foundation for Agricultural Research, Magnus Bergvall's Foundation, and the Swedish Foundation for Pig Research.

The thesis was made possible only because of the support from **animal owners** and **field veterinarians**. Thank all of you for participating enthusiastically, for sharing your experiences and giving me some of your time.

The main work was carried out at the Department of Clinical Sciences, **Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences** (SLU), Uppsala, Sweden. The pathological examinations and virology work was performed at the Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health (SLU), and the bacteriological work at the Department of Bacteriology at the **National Veterinary Institute (SVA)**, Uppsala, Sweden.

Many people have helped me with different tasks during these years and I wish to thank all of you. I would especially like to express my gratitude to:

My main supervisor **Magdalena Jacobson**, who somehow managed to guide me through all of this, I am more than grateful for all your support. Thank you for sharing your scientific competence and experience, and for always taking the time to listen to all my crazy ideas, and thoughts. I really admire your ability to stay calm, no matter what!

Co-supervisors: **Ronny Lindberg**, for inspiring discussions over the microscope and for sharing your fantastic knowledge and experience in intestinal pathology. I have truly enjoyed working and writing together with you! **Anna Aspán**, for patiently helping me out in the lab, and for laughing together during late afternoons. Thanks for caring and always taking the time to help. **Nils Fall**, thank you for all statistical "therapy" sessions. I have really appreciated your optimism and your encouraging words along the way.

**Oskar Karlsson**, my dear fellow PhD-student and co-worker in the virology part of this project. What a ride! I'm glad that we met at that course four years back and then somehow managed to convince (trick?) our supervisors that this project was an amazing idea. It has been more than challenging at times, but we have also had a lot of fun and I don't think that I would have developed half as much as a researcher if it wasn't for this project. You have been a fantastic support and I hope we get to work together again sometime in the future. I am grateful to have you as a friend.

**Rodrigo Grandon**, who kindly helped me with all the necropsies and histopathological examinations. I am really grateful for all the hard work you put into this. Thanks for putting up with me and for always being so kind and cheerful!

**Eva Westergren**, thank you so much for joining me on the FISH-adventure! I have really enjoyed working and laughing together with you. Thanks for all your help and support.

All the other co-authors: **Viveca Båverud**, **Mikael Berg**, **Juliette Hayer**, and **Maria Lindberg**. Thank you for doing such a great job and for sharing your expertise and knowledge. I feel really privileged to have had the chance to work with you.

My friends and present and former colleagues in the "pig group" at SLU: Annette for your fantastic sense of humour and for all support you have given me. These years would not have been half as much fun without you. Marie, for always organizing everything and making sure that the teaching runs smoothly. Thank you for being so kind and helpful. Axel, for being a thoughtful friend and always taking the time for a coffee and a chat. Claes, for being so supportive and encouraging. Thank you for many interesting pig and non-pig related discussions! Frida, thanks for all conversations, laughs and crazy escapades. I hope they will continue.

And other "coffee break-colleagues" at the department, **Malin Ö**, **Malin H**, **Bodil**, **Sanna**, **Hanna**, and **Elin**, thank you for making the days more interesting!

And the pig crowd at SVA; **Per**, **Mate**, **Julia** and **Marie**. Thank you for being great travelling companions to some odd places around the world, and for entertaining discussions and dinners at Ekenäs.

Sigge Matsson, Maja Persson, Ulla Zimmerman, Gull Holmström, Helena Ljung, Anna Eriksson, Sara Frosth, Robert Söderlund, Tomas Jinnerot, Erik Eriksson, Lennart Melin, Märit Pringle and Helle Unnerstad at the

SVA for excellent technical assistance and scientific advice in different parts of the bacteriological work.

**Agneta Boström** and **Tapio Nikkilä** for preparing fantastic specimens for histology and transmission electron microscopy.

All **veterinarians at the Farm and Animal Health** who have participated in and supported different parts of this work. Especially **Susanne Stjernelid** who offered me both accommodation and dinner during some of my "pig-travels".

Not aforementioned present and former PhD-students; Malin Å, Cecilia, Helena, Karin and Camilla, thank you for the support during the last months. You have made the task of finishing this thesis (almost) bearable.

The climbing crew; **Thomas**, **Sofia**, **Bron**, **Anders**, **Magnus** and **Thomas**. Thanks for still asking me out on adventures. I will join you soon.

My dear friends; Nina, Fredric, Ylva, Magdalena, Tim, Anna-Karin, Malin, Saga, Emma, Sofia, Elisabeth, Hanna, Cajsa, Lisa, Behzad, Petri, Vicky, Viccan, Karin, and Ida. Your friendship means a lot.

My mother **Carina** and my father **Lars-Elve**, my siblings **Martin** and **Malin**, for always loving me and believing in me.

All other family and friends, thank you!